

# Student Handbook

2024-25

#### **About the Student Handbook**

This handbook is intended to provide students, teachers, aides, and parents with a guide to academic and program requirements. Every student and parent should read all the information carefully and discuss it before enrolling in LCS. Planning a school program is very important, and careful thought should be given to future educational and vocational goals, aptitudes, past academic achievement and willingness to work. If you have any questions, please contact your local center or supervising teacher or log on to the Ledyard Charter School website where you will find information about LCS programs and schedules, as well as links to a wide array of educational resources. <a href="http://www.ledyardcharterschool.com/">http://www.ledyardcharterschool.com/</a>

# Description of the Program

Ledyard Charter School of Lebanon will incorporate current best practices and will re-inspire reluctant and disengaged learners. The distinguishing features of our program are:

- 1. a strong standards-based academic core supported by 21st century skills
- 2. real world application and community internships
- 3. the support of a school-based advocate throughout the four-year program
- 4. an academic audit that includes baseline assessments, goals, and frequent monitoring and re-testing 5. personal learning plans
- 6. bi-annual parent-teacher conferences
- 7. student motivation and connection to learning
- 8. schoolwide community service programs

#### **Mission Statement**

Our mission is to provide students with real life learning experiences. We focus on creating experiential learning that will prepare students well for college, the workplace, and life as successful and happy adults. The foundation of our school lies within our belief in building strong skills in the areas of self-advocacy, organization, goal setting and attainment, self-determination, and self-confidence, all while supporting the community. These skills are developed in the classroom as well as in the community with a schoolwide annual goal of 800 hours of community service.

#### Contents

#### Section I - Introduction

- The Vision of a Graduate
- Student Education Goals
- Methods of Measuring Student Progress
- Grading System
- Credits
- Community Service Requirement

#### **Section II - General Information**

- Grade Level Classification (9-12)
- Student Information System
- Repeating Courses
- Attendance Policy
- Dismissal Policy
- Student Program-Mandated Activities
- Suicide Prevention and Response
- Disclosure of Information
- Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)
- Data/Records Retention
- Academic Honesty

## Section III - Communication Rules and Regulations

- Student Acceptable Use Policy (Internet/LCS Network)
- Cell Phone / Electronic Devices Use Policy
- Video and Audio Recording for Instructional Purposes
- Non-Academic Questionnaires and Surveys

## Section IV - Student Behavior

- Dress Standard
- Lockers
- Use of Restraints and Seclusion
- Appropriate Placement
- Withdrawal from Program
- Student Discipline Policy and Due Process.
- Grounds for Suspension
- Drug-Free Workplace and Drug-Free School
- Tobacco Ban
- Search Policy
- Reporting Child Abuse or Neglect
- Pupil Safety & Violence Prevention Policy (Bullying)

# Section V - Planning a Course of Study

- Acceptance of External Credits
- Standardized Testing
- Minimum Requirements for Graduation & Diploma
- Concurrent Enrollment
- College Admission Information

#### Section VII – General Assurances

- Certified Coordinator
- Students with Disabilities
- Nondiscrimination / Equal Opportunity Policy & Procedural Safeguards
- Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students

- Transgender and Gender Non Conforming Policy
- Student Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures
- Complaint Procedures for Incidents Other than Bullying, Discrimination, Harassment or Sexual Harassment
- LCS Withdrawal Form & Exit Survey

Acceptance of Handbook and Agreement to Comply with Policies

#### Section I - Introduction

## The Vision of a Graduate

Students at Ledyard Charter School will strive to:

# Think Critically:

- Students solve problems.
- Students recognize and make logical connections.
- Students formulate useful questions.
- Students gather, organize analyze and interpret data.

## Communicate Effectively:

- Students write and speak clearly for a variety of purposes and audiences.
- Students transmit information through visual media.
- Students acquire information and understanding by listening to individual speakers and participating in group discussion.
- Students acquire information and understanding by reading printed and electronic material. Students acquire information through visual media.

## Come Prepared:

- When working alone, students demonstrate initiative, motivation, and the ability to address and complete a task.
- When working together towards the completion of a common goal, students share responsibility for their learning and that of others.
- When working together toward the completion of a common goal, students communicate clearly and constructively.
- When working together toward a common goal, students combine information gathered by all members of a group.
- When working together toward a common goal, students demonstrate support for others.

# Gather and Analyze Information:

- Students access information from a variety of resources.
- Students review compiled information to determine relevance and validity.
- Students compare, contrast, and recognize connections among the various pieces of information collected.
- Students appropriately communicate compiled information in a variety of ways.

## Fulfill Social and Civic Expectations:

- Students accept diversity and individual rights.
- Students demonstrate respect and consideration for themselves, others, personal and public property, and the environment.
- Students accept responsibility for their actions.
- Students advocate for themselves and for the rights of others.
- Students exhibit academic and social integrity.

#### **Student Education Goals**

Students will be intrinsically motivated. This will be accomplished through providing interesting, worthwhile learning opportunities that will stimulate the interests of each student. In addition, LCS is committed to providing an environment that is conducive to learning.

# **Methods of Measuring Student Progress**

While all students will achieve the required standards by graduation, not all will progress at the same rate. Evaluation of that progress is based on individual abilities, interests and talents. Methods by which student progress is assessed will be through a variety of the following:

- Progress Checks with the Executive Director, teachers and parents
- Oral and written assessments
- Portfolios of student work
- Teacher observation
- State-mandated assessment testing
- Student presentations

# **Grading System**

```
A+97-100 A 93-96.9 A-90-92.9
B+87-89.9 B 83-86.9 B-80-82.9
C+77-79.9 C 73-76.9 C-70-72.9
D+67-69.9 D 63-66.9 D-60-62.9
F 0-59.9
```

#### **Credits**

Students earn credit by completing the course work based on the material covered and learned at LCS. Credits may be earned for grades "A" to "D" (or "Pass" in Pass/Fail classes) in all courses (grades 9-12). The charter school may accept transfer credits for grades "A" to "D" (and "Pass") in applicable courses only from any approved public, private or home schools. (Credits from unaccredited schools will be evaluated on an individual basis.) Ledyard Charter School offers a program that comprises 6-8 credits per year in accordance with graduation requirements for the State of New Hampshire.

# **Community Service Requirement**

All LCS students will complete 20 hours annually of community service as a graduation requirement. Students will be given opportunities to gain hours through school wide activities. Students are encouraged to explore community service opportunities in their area of interest. Students will meet with advisors and the Student Support Coordinator to support community service activities. Students are required to log hours and gain signature for hours completed.

#### **Section II - General Information**

## Grade Level Classification (9-12)

All students are expected to attend high school 180 days annually. However, if students work at an accelerated pace and complete the necessary course credit requirements, they may graduate early. Students are classified as follows:

- o Grade 9 (Freshman) 0 5.5 credits earned
- o Grade 10 (Sophomore) 5.5 11 credits earned
- o Grade 11 (Junior) 11-16.5 credits earned
- o Grade 12 (Senior) 16.5+ credits earned

## **Student Information System**

All students have been assigned TeacherEase accounts, along with the necessary logins and password information to access their accounts. TeacherEase accounts provide classroom assignment logs, attendance records, discipline records and current class grades. Parents can access their child's information. Please contact the main office to establish parent access.

## **Repeating Courses**

Generally, a course cannot be repeated if the student has earned a D- grade or higher. If a student has failed a course or has not demonstrated sufficient competency, he/she may retake the course for credit. Consult with the instructor regarding individual situations.

# Student Attendance, Absenteeism & Truancy Policy Code: JBA

Parents/Guardians, students, school administrators, and teachers all serve important roles in ensuring students attend school and are on time. Tardiness disrupts the education process. Students have an obligation to attend school and be on time for classes and all scheduled school related activities.

# A. Compulsory Education Ages.

Under state law, full-time attendance at school is required of every child 6 years of age or older and under age 18, unless they have received a high school diploma or its equivalent. If a child is voluntarily enrolled in school and has not formally withdrawn, that child is required to attend school when it is in session.

# B. Compulsory Education Responsibilities.

#### 1. Parents/Guardians

Parents or other adults having control of a person of compulsory attendance age are responsible for ensuring that a student attends school as required by law. The Board expects school administrators and staff to work with families in an effort to ensure and support compliance.

Family vacations do not qualify as an excused absence. The Ledyard Charter School encourages Parents/Guardians to schedule family vacations during designated school vacation periods. If that is not possible, then students will be required to make up work upon returning to school.

As outlined in this policy, Parents/Guardians are expected to contact the school in which their child is enrolled to inform the school of their child's absence. If a student is 18 and under no guardianship, then they are expected to contact the School when they will be absent.

## 2. School

The Executive Director or their designee is responsible for overseeing attendance procedures and for ensuring that:

- (a) Attendance is accurately checked, recorded, and reported to the school office each day for each class.
- (b) All student absences are recorded.
- (c) All permanent records of student attendance are maintained at the school.
- (d) Students experiencing multiple absences will be referred to the appropriate school personnel for resolution.

#### C. Excused and Unexcused Absences.

The Executive Director, or their designee, shall determine whether students' absences are excused or unexcused. The School shall maintain accurate attendance records for each student. Each teacher shall accurately report daily attendance and punctuality. The Executive Director is designated as the person responsible to address truancy issues. The Executive Director shall communicate with parents when a student's attendance becomes a concern and as required by this policy. The Executive Director shall invite parents/guardians to work together to design a plan to address the child's absences.

The School understands that absence from school may be necessary under certain circumstances to include the following:

- 1. **Excused absence**. A student's absence from school is excused when the absence is for one of the following reasons:
- acute or chronic illness
- medical/dental appointments
- absences approved by the Executive Director under RSA 193:1,I(c)
- college visits
- military-related activity
- bereavement
- court appointments
- religious holidays
- mandated court appearances
- participation in LEA sponsored events
- extenuating circumstances determined by the Executive Director.

All excused absences, whether for an entire day, or portion thereof, must be documented with appropriate notes from parents/guardians, or physicians, or a phone call to the school. While student illness is generally considered an excused absence, students who are repeatedly called out for illness may be required to provide medical certification/documentation from their physician. Failure to provide this upon request may result in absences being considered unexcused.

**2. Unexcused absence.** absence which occurs for any reason other than excused absence. Unexcused absences are considered truancy.

# D. Reporting Procedures.

Parents/Guardians are expected to call 603-727-4772 or email <a href="wkozak@ledyardcharterschool.org">wkozak@ledyardcharterschool.org</a> by 9:00 AM to report the absence of their child each day the child is absent. If a student is 18 years old or older and does not have an appointed guardian, then the student is expected to contact the school to report an absence.

If a call or email is not received by 9:00 AM, the school will call to verify status. The absence, however, may not be considered excused.

# E. Truancy.

Under New Hampshire law, ten half days of unexcused absence during a school year shall constitute habitual truancy. A half day is defined as a student missing more than two (2) hours of instructional time and less than three and one-half (3 hours of instructional time. Any absences over three and one-half hours of instructional time shall be considered a full day absence.

The Executive Director will notify and work collaboratively with sending school districts when absences are considered habitual truancy.

#### F. Intervention Process.

# 1. After 6 half-days of unexcused absences:

- The Executive Director or their designee shall contact the parent/guardian by telephone and in writing
  requesting a meeting within three school days to discuss the matter and to develop a plan to prevent any further
  unexcused absences.
- The Executive Director shall enclose copies of RSA 193:1, this policy, and the student's attendance record. The Executive Director shall provide a copy of the letter to the Executive Director.

# 2. After 10 half-days of unexcused absences:

- The Executive Director shall notify the Executive Director, parents/guardians, and the LEA.
- The Executive Director shall enclose copies of RSA 193:1, this policy, and the student's attendance record. The Executive Director shall provide a copy of the letter to the Executive Director. The Executive Director shall schedule a meeting with the parent/guardian, LEA, and appropriate school personnel. The purpose of the meeting shall be to develop a revised plan to address the habitual truancy.
- At the meeting, the Program Director and LEA shall inform the parent/guardian that additional unexcused absences may result in the filing of a CHINS petition in the local district court and may require a home visit from the LEA's truant officer.

If the student fails to comply with the revised plan and accumulates more than 15 half days of unexcused
absences, the Executive Director shall consult with the LEA to determine what further action should be taken
to include but not limited to termination from the program and/or initiation of appropriate judicial
intervention.

# G. Appeal.

A parent/guardian or student seeking an exception for an absence that is not otherwise excused may file a request with the Executive Director or designee. A parent/guardian may also appeal to the Executive Director or designee for the following:

- A determination that a specific absence/tardy, etc. was unexcused;
- A determination that an absence occurred at all; or
- Whether exceptional circumstances exist which make strict application of this policy inappropriate with respect to one or more absences.

The Executive Director shall consider the following factors in reviewing a request or appeal:

- The spirit and intent of the policy.
- Whether the absence was due to the action or inaction of the student or parents.
- Whether exceptional circumstances exist that warrant an exception to the policy.
- The decision of the Executive Director shall be final.

#### **Dismissal Policy**

Parents must communicate with the Main Office to have their child dismissed early. Said student must then sign out through the Main Office when leaving LCS campus with required parent permission. Students are always responsible for their academic work outside of the classroom when they are not in attendance.

# **Student Program-Mandated Activities**

Ledyard Charter School strives to create a learning environment which is respectful of the rights and dignity of all members of our learning community. Students are expected to conduct themselves in a respectful and professional manner while participating in all activities associated with Ledyard Charter School.

Ledyard Charter School offers additional learning opportunities such as, but not limited to, fieldtrips, community service outings, and other school activities/events. It is expected that all students participating in these activities are in good standing, adhere to all student behavior expectations, and are meeting all academic requirements to participate in such activities.

#### Suicide Prevention and Response

Ledyard Charter School is committed to protecting the health, safety and welfare of its students and school community. The School's policy supports federal, state and local efforts to provide education on youth suicide awareness and prevention to establish methods of prevention, intervention, and response to suicide attempt ("postvention"); and to promote access to suicide awareness, prevention and postvention resources.

# Disclosure of Information

Ledyard Charter School does not provide information to the general public regarding its students unless legally required

to do so. Ledyard Charter School is required to disclose a student's disciplinary records, with respect to suspensions, upon transfer to another school per the following federal and state law:

193-D:8 Transfer Records; Notice – All elementary and secondary educational institutions, including academies, private schools, and public schools, shall upon request of the parent, pupil, or former pupil, furnish a complete school record for the pupil transferring into a new school system. Such record shall include, but not be limited to, records relating to any incidents involving suspension or expulsion, or delinquent or criminal acts, or any incident reports in which the pupil was charged with any act of theft, destruction, or violence in a safe school zone.

# Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)

FERPA affords parents and students who are 18 years of age or older ("eligible students") certain rights with respect to the student's education records. (Reference is provided to the Board's full Policy EHBA regarding FERPA.)

#### Data/Records Retention

The Executive Director shall develop procedures for a records retention system that is in compliance with RSA 189:29-a and Department of Education regulations, and also addresses retention/destruction of all other records which are not subject to specific statutes or regulations. The procedures should ensure that all pertinent records are stored safely and are stored for such durations as are required by law. The Executive Director shall develop procedures necessary to protect individual rights and preserve confidential information.

This policy shall apply to all school records, irrespective of the specific medium of the record, i.e., paper, electronic, digital, cloud, etc.

## A. Special Education Records.

- 1. Upon a student's graduation from high school, his or her parent(s)/guardian(s) may request in writing that the School destroy the student's special education records, including any final individualized education program.
- 2. The parent(s)/guardian(s) may, at any time prior to the student's twenty-sixth birthday, request, in writing, that the records be retained until the student's thirtieth birthday.
- 3. Absent any request by a student's parents to destroy the records prior to the twenty-sixth birthday, or to retain such records until the student's thirtieth birthday, the School shall destroy a student's records and final individualized education program within a reasonable time after the student's twenty-sixth birthday, provided that all such records be destroyed by the student's thirtieth birthday.

#### **Academic Honesty**

Ledyard Charter School (LCS) is strongly committed to nurturing academic excellence, truth, responsibility, and integrity. Our independent study program expects all students to maintain a high standard of ethics in their academic pursuits. Academic dishonesty is considered a serious matter and will not be tolerated. Academic dishonesty (in course work, on examinations, or in other academically related activities) includes but is not limited to the following:

- copying from another student or knowingly allowing another to copy
- using unauthorized materials and/or technologies
- plagiarizing work the intentional or accidental appropriation of another's writings or ideas and the unacknowledged incorporation of that work, in full or in part, in one's own written work including electronic media such as the internet
- counterfeit work, including turning in as one's own work that which was created, researched, or produced by
- theft or the altering of grades, records (written or electronic), and/or teaching materials

Any student found to have broken the academic honesty policy is subject to the following:

- receiving a zero on the assignment and the assignment cannot be made up
- immediate removal from the course(s) where the infraction occurred (without replacement) and possible failure of the course, or
- suspension

# Section III - Communication Rules and Regulations

# Student Acceptable Use Policy (Internet/LCS Network)

Ledyard Charter School (LCS) actively attempts to offer students and staff advanced technology and increased access to learning opportunities. We are happy to offer Internet services through the Ledyard Charter School Computer Network (hereafter referred to as "LCS Computer Network"). We believe this computer technology will propel our school into the information age by allowing students and staff to access and use information from online sources, communicate and share information with individuals or groups of other students and staff, and significantly expand their knowledge base. The Internet is a tool for life-long learning and opens the door to many advanced research tools. Students and staff must understand and make proper and ethical use of this learning opportunity.

## Acceptable Use

The purpose of the Internet is to facilitate communications in support of research and education by providing access to unique resources and an opportunity for collaborative work. To remain eligible as a user, the use of your account must be in support of and consistent with the educational objectives of LCS. Access to the Internet is made possible through the LCS Computer Network at its sole discretion. The Ledyard Charter School students and all users of the LCS Computer Network must comply with the existing rules and acceptable use policies, which are incorporated into this document and are also available from the corporate office.

Transmission of any material in violation of any federal or state law or regulation is prohibited. This includes, but is not limited to, copyrighted material, threatening or obscene material, or material protected by trade secret.

The LCS Computer Network contains copyrighted material and/or other proprietary information. The materials contained on or otherwise made available to you on the LCS Computer Network may be copyrighted by LCS and are thus protected by copyright laws and regulations worldwide. Except as may otherwise be expressly permitted by applicable law, any copying, automated browsing or downloading, redistribution, publication, or commercial exploitation of any material contained on or otherwise made available to you on the LCS Computer Network is strictly prohibited without the prior written permission of LCS.

## **Controversial Material**

LCS has gone to great lengths to provide the necessary hardware and software to filter the Internet content that is accessible through our network while still allowing our students the freedom to access the Internet's many resources. Despite these precautions, users may encounter material that is controversial or offensive and which users, parents, teachers or administrators may consider inappropriate or offensive. It is impossible to control all data that an industrious user may discover on a global network. It is the user's responsibility not to initiate access to controversial or offensive material. LCS reserves the right to regulate the content and material on the Internet through the LCS Computer Network. In no event shall LCS be liable for either intentional or inadvertent student access to controversial or offensive materials.

# Monitoring

LCS reserves the right to review any material on user accounts and to monitor fileserver space in order to make determinations on whether specific uses of the network are inappropriate. In reviewing and monitoring user accounts and fileserver space, LCS shall respect the privacy of user accounts.

# Network Etiquette

All users are expected to abide by the generally accepted rules of network etiquette. These include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Be polite. Do not become abusive in your messages to others.
- Use appropriate language. Do not swear or use vulgarities or other inappropriate language. Do not engage in activities that are prohibited under state or federal law.
- Do not reveal personal information such as addresses or phone numbers of students, colleagues, staff, or yourself.
- Do not use the network in any manner that disrupts the use of the network by other users.
- Do seek permission from others before any videotaping or audio recording. New Hampshire is a "two party" or "all-party" state where every party to a conversation must agree to the recording. The New Hampshire statute is RSA 570-A, Wiretapping and Eavesdropping. Intentional violations of RSA 570-A can result in a class B felony or a misdemeanor, as well as money damages.
- All communications and information accessible via the network should be assumed to be the property of LCS.

## No Warranties

LCS makes no warranties of any kind, whether express or implied, for the service it is providing. LCS will not be responsible for any damages a user suffers. This includes loss of data resulting from delays, non-deliveries, mis-deliveries or service interruptions caused by LCS's negligence or by the user's errors or omissions. Use of any information obtained via the Internet is at the user's own risk. LCS specifically denies any responsibility for the accuracy or quality of information obtained through its services. All users need to consider the source of any information they obtain and determine how valid that information may be.

#### Security

Security on any computer system is a high priority, especially when the system involves many users. Users should also protect their password to ensure system security and their own privilege and ability to continue to use the system. Users are responsible for reporting any potential security problems on the Internet to a system administrator. Do not use another individual's account without the express written permission of the account holder. Attempts to log on to the network as a system administrator may result in cancellation of user privileges. Any user identified as a security risk due to a history of problems with this or any other computer systems may be denied access to the Internet by LCS.

# **System Misuse**

Vandalism and harassment will result in cancellation of user privileges. Vandalism is defined as any malicious attempt to harm, modify, or destroy data of another user, the Internet, the LCS Computer Network, or other networks that are connected to the Internet backbone. This includes, but is not limited to, the uploading or creating of computer viruses.

Harassment is defined as the persistent annoyance of another user or interference with another user's work. Harassment may include, but is not limited to, the sending of unwanted E-mail.

Examples of potential offenses are removing another user's account, changing another user's password, using an unauthorized account, damaging files, altering the system, or using the system to make money illegally. Users must not cause damage to any school property, including the network system.

## Privilege

The use of the LCS Computer Network is a privilege that may be revoked by the administrators of the network at any time and for any reason. Inappropriate use, including any violation of these rules and regulations or the Internet Access

Consent and Waiver, may result in cancellation of network privileges. LCS, under this agreement, has delegated the authority to determine the appropriate use and may deny, revoke, suspend, or close any user account at any time based upon the determination of inappropriate use by the account holder or user.

## Penalties for Improper Use

Any user violating these rules, applicable state and federal laws, or posted classroom and LCS rules are subject to loss of network privileges and/or any other school disciplinary options.

In addition, pursuant to state law, any unauthorized access, unauthorized attempt to access, or unauthorized use of any computing and/or network system is a violation of the New Hampshire Penal Code and/or other applicable federal laws and is subject to criminal prosecution.

## Cell Phone / Electronic Devices Use Policy

It is important for students to understand their responsibility in the appropriate use of cell phones. School officials will continue to monitor abuse of cell phones as it relates to cyber-bullying and threats to student or staff safety, harassment issues by students, academic cheating, and inappropriate or illegal use of picture cell phones in violation of students' or faculty and staff's right to privacy.

New Hampshire is a "two-party" or "all-party" state where every party to a conversation must agree to the recording. The New Hampshire statute is RSA 570-A, Wiretapping and Eavesdropping. Intentional violations of RSA 570-A can result in a class B felony or a misdemeanor, as well as money damages.

Unless authorized by a teacher for educational purposes, cell phone use will be prohibited in class during the academic day, or during a school-wide activity, advisory, morning meeting or assembly. **Students may use cell phones/electronic devices during lunch or in between classes.** Parents are asked to call the school's Main Office should an emergency arise, and you need to reach your student. Please refrain from calling or texting your child's phone.

All electronic devices will need to be checked in with all teachers upon entering class. Teachers will allow use of music (with headphones) during designated times. Texting will not be allowed. Students using electronic devices during academic time without permission will receive the same consequences as cell phone use.

If a teacher/staff deems cell phone use to be inappropriate, s/he may confiscate the phone until the end of the day.

**Passwords:** School Administrators, teachers, and counselors are in no way entitled to insist upon the disclosure of passwords to access private student cell phones, email, and other electronic accounts.

**Consequences:** Students using their phones to text or make calls during class time will receive a ZERO for the day in the respective class. Students recording teachers, staff, and/or peers without permission will receive a ZERO for the day and potentially be subject to NH RSA 570-A. In either of the above-described situations, the phone or texting device will be confiscated and returned to student with parent contact. Students refusing to hand over said phone/device will be sent to the office.

A second violation of said policy will result in the device being confiscated and given to the Executive Director to hold onto until a parent is able to retrieve the phone from the school. Students will also be issued two (2) hours of community service to be completed at LCS between 3:00 p.m. and 4:00 p.m.

Students found to be in possession of, or using a cell phone/electronic device during standardized testing/state exam will be issued five (5) hours of community service to be completed at LCS between 3:00 p.m. and 4:00 p.m.

# Video and Audio Recording for Instructional Purposes

The Ledyard Charter School is committed to the use of technology to enhance the education of its students. The Ledyard Charter School acknowledges that video, digital video, and audio recording ('recording') may be useful for instructional purposes. In addition, there are times when live streaming or internet access to digital video and audio recording is appropriate. For example, these technologies may be useful tools to provide access to students in remote locations, to home-bound or hospital-bound students, or to permit a student to recover classroom instruction lost during an extended absence. Also, school personnel may utilize recordings for professional and evaluative purposes.

The decision to conduct video, digital video, or audio recording for educational purposes shall be made first by the classroom teacher, and his or her consent to recording shall be documented in writing and placed on file with the Director. All such recordings shall be deemed to be the copywritten property of the School and shall not be reproduced without the Director's express permission. Recordings shall not be sold. **Recording in the classroom for other than educational purposes is prohibited.** Recordings made for instructional uses are intended to provide information for pedagogical study and do not constitute educational records under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). Only the student(s) or instructor on whose behalf a request for recording is made will

Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). Only the student(s) or instructor on whose behalf a request for recording is made will be granted access to that recording. The Director may authorize others to view an existing recording on a case-to-case and as-needed basis.

Student recordings as an accommodation included in an Individualized Education Plan or Section 504 Plan shall not be deemed a school recording unless the recording is conducted by the school on behalf of the student. All recordings made as an accommodation or for instructional recovery or academic study shall be erased at the end of the semester or when they are no longer needed. If the classroom teacher wishes to preserve a recording for future instructional purposes, the teacher must seek permission from the Director to preserve the recording.

No recording shall take place in a classroom without first securing the written consent of each student's parent or guardian. This policy shall be reproduced and included in the documents sent to students' families prior to the opening of school each year, and the school will request the return of the written consent form for the Ledyard Charter School's use of video and audio classroom recording for instructional purposes for that school year. Until that time, this policy and a permission form shall be disseminated by each classroom educator when recording in his or her classroom is contemplated. The educator shall be responsible for garnering all parents' written consents and placing them on file with the Director before recording may take place in the classroom.

This policy does not apply to the recording by the Ledyard Charter School of events such as public concerts, graduation ceremonies, athletic events, and the like, all of which are not considered to be classroom recordings. This policy has been adopted after a public hearing conducted by the Ledyard Charter School Board.

#### Non-Academic Questionnaires and Surveys

This policy will apply to all non-academic surveys and questionnaires administered by the Ledyard Charter School.

Parents/guardians ("parents") will be notified prior to the School administering a non-academic survey or questionnaire to students. Parents will be permitted to review the survey or questionnaire at the School and on the School's website at least ten (10) days prior to it being administered.

Parents may opt-out their child from surveys and questionnaires. Such an opt-out notice must be delivered either in writing or electronically to the School. Parents who do not opt-out their child from School-administered surveys or questionnaires will be deemed to have consented to the survey or questionnaire.

For purposes of this policy, "non-academic survey or questionnaire" means "surveys, questionnaires, or other documents designed to elicit information about a student's social behavior, family life, religion, politics, sexual orientation, sexual activity, drug use, or any other information not related to a student's academics" or as otherwise may be defined by applicable state law or Department of Education regulation.

#### Section IV - Student Behavior

# **Student Conduct Policy Code: JIC**

# A. General Policy

The Board is committed to promoting a safe, healthy, orderly and supportive school and learning environment. To achieve that for all, it is important for students to conduct themselves in a manner fitting to their age level and maturity, and with respect and consideration of other students, Ledyard Charter School personnel and other members of the community.

Students are expected and required to maintain appropriate behavior that allows teachers and staff to perform their professional duties effectively and without disruption while on LCS property or on property within the jurisdiction of LCS (including vehicles); and/or while attending or engaged in school activities.

Expectations for student conduct and standards of behavior shall be communicated through written Board policies, and school rules. Those policies and rules should be included in a Code of Conduct for each school.

Student conduct that causes material or substantial disruption to the school environment, interferes with the rights of others, presents a threat to the health and safety of students, employees, or visitors, and/or violates the Code of Conduct, or classroom rules is prohibited. Response to violations of the Code of Conduct, however, should be designed to maximize student academic, emotional and social success, while at the same time assuring safety of all students, staff and school visitors. LCS personnel who interact with students are expected to utilize progressive disciplinary measures, and to place emphasis on educating students so they may grow in self-discipline. Suspensions and expulsions shall be administered consistent with the applicable Code of Conduct and Board Policy JICD.

#### B. Student Code of Conduct

The Board delegates to the Executive Director, in consultation with the appropriate LCS staff, the responsibility of adopting and implementing a Student Code of Conduct with such age-appropriate rules and regulations for each school as he/she deems necessary to implement the objectives of this policy, school-wide approaches; targeted supports for at-risk students; and individualized services for highest-needs students.

The Code of Conduct for each school shall be submitted to the Board for review each year, either separately or with the applicable student handbook. Consistent with the Board's statutory authority, and other Board policies regarding review

of administrative rules, regulations and procedures, the Board retains the authority to modify, supersede, or suspend any provision of the Code of Conduct.

#### The Code of Conduct shall include:

- 1. A graduated and age-appropriate system of supports and intervention strategies, such as:
  - parent conferences
  - counseling
  - peer mediation
  - instruction in conflict resolution and anger management
  - parent counseling and training
  - community service
  - rearranging class schedules
- 2. Graduated and age-appropriate disciplinary consequences such as:
  - restriction from extra-curricular activities
  - temporary (same day) removal from class or activity
  - detention
  - temporary reassignment/in-school suspension
  - out-of-school suspension
  - expulsion.
- 3. Provisions describing how and when short term suspensions of up to 5 days, short term suspensions up to 10 days, long term suspensions up to 20 days, and/or expulsion should be imposed. These standards shall make reference to and reflect:
  - the nature and degree of disruption caused to the school environment;
  - the threat to the health and safety of pupils and school personnel, volunteers or visitors;
  - whether the conduct or behavior is isolated or repeated.

All temporary (same day) removal from classrooms or activities, restriction from activities, detentions, suspensions and expulsions shall comport with applicable laws, regulations and Board Policy JICD.

4. Information regarding RSA 193:13, 193-D, this Policy, Board policy JICD, and other Board policies or school rules regulating student conduct on and off-campus. Except where the complete text of a statute, regulation or policy is required, the Code of Conduct should include age appropriate language. E.g., summaries for elementary grade levels.

## C. Implementation and Notice.

The Executive Director shall assure that the Code of Conduct, complete with the information set out in section B.4, above, shall be printed in full in each student handbook, made available to parents at the beginning of the school year, publicly available on the school, LCS website [or in some other manner to assure parental notification if LCS does not maintain a website].

Additionally, the Executive Director shall assure student awareness of the Code of Conduct and other Board policies and building rules through print, postings and periodic announcements.

The Executive Director should also designate personnel to explore the availability of and pursue any State or Federal grants, technical assistance and professional development opportunities available to facilitate implementation of MTSS-B per RSA 135-F:5, I(c) and (d).

# D. Parental Notification of Simple Assaults.

Pursuant to RSA 193-D:4, I (b), the executive Director is directed to adopt and implement procedures requiring parents/guardians of each student involved in a simple assault (victim and perpetrator) occurring during the school day, when such assault causes: any form of bodily injury, including bruising or discoloration, or would otherwise constitute a disciplinable offense under the Code of Conduct. For purposes of this policy, "simple assault" shall have the same meaning as that provided in RSA 631:2-a (a simple assault occurs when one purposefully or knowingly causes bodily injury or unprivileged physical contact to another; or recklessly causes bodily injury to another or negligently causes bodily injury to another by means of a deadly weapon).

## E. Disciplinary Removal of Students with Disabilities.

If a student is disabled under the Individuals with Disabilities Act (IDEA), the New Hampshire RSA 186-C, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Americans with Disabilities Act, or any other law providing special rights to disabled students, those laws shall govern and shall supersede these local policies to the extent these local policies are inconsistent with those laws. Accordingly, any class or activity removal, suspension or expulsion of a child with a disability as defined in Ed 1102.01(t) shall be in accordance with Ed 1124.01.

## **Dress Standard**

Students are asked to dress in accordance with the comfortable learning environment of the Charter School. We appreciate and encourage each person's individual style, but we do not allow those clothing items that are taken to extremes or present ideals which LCS does not wish to promote. LCS considers the following items inappropriate for students to wear at school:

- 1. any clothing or jewelry item that depicts drugs, sex, alcohol, profanity, or racism
- 2. sheer or revealing garments that are sexually inappropriate
- 3. choke collars (against NH State Law)

The teachers and staff of the charter school will monitor student dress. Discretion will be used by the administration and will prevail in all instances. If a problem arises, the teacher or administrator may ask the student to change his/her clothing (we have alternative clothing in the office), contact the student's family, and/or request a parent-teacher conference to discuss the matter. Continued violations may result in suspension.

#### Lockers

Ledyard Charter School will designate a locker and combination lock for student use. It is required that each student use said lock on the designated locker. The school will NOT be held responsible for any items missing or unlawfully removed from said locker.

Lockers are the property of Ledyard Charter School and are only for students to use while enrolled at Ledyard. Lockers shall be kept clean, free from noxious odors, and free from graffiti and/or inappropriate photos inside and out. Lockers must be emptied and cleaned by student and combination locks returned to Administration on the student's last day of school at Ledyard.

Students should not expect any privacy in relation to said lockers. Administrators may search lockers if they suspect there are illegal substances, stolen or dangerous items inside. Lockers may be searched to ensure the safety of the school. All lockers will be subject to random searches. Ledyard reserves the right to gain entry to said lockers by any means necessary should the student refuse to open the locker upon request.

Ledyard reserves the right to assess a fine for damage to and/or replacement of said lockers and/or locks.

## Use of Restraints and Seclusion

The Executive Director is authorized to establish and implement procedures for managing student behavior. Such procedures are consistent with the School's Use of Restraints and Seclusion Policy and all applicable laws.

(Reference is provided to the Board's Policy on Use of Restraints and Seclusion, JKAA, found on the School's website.)

# Appropriate Placement

Ledyard Charter School is a New Hampshire Public School of Choice, and students are accepted into the program through an application process. Upon admission, students commit to the vision and mission of LCS and will be continually evaluated to assess that the student and program are well-matched. If this proves to be not the case, the Executive Director reserves the right to withdraw the student from the program and refer him or her to the school of residence. Based on attendance concerns, inadequate performance and/or lack of commitment to the vision, a student may be withdrawn from LCS. Written notice will be provided by the Executive Director.

#### Withdrawal from Program

Parents requesting to withdraw their child from the Program are asked to: A) Schedule a meeting with the Executive Director; B) Complete the Withdrawal Form and Exit Survey (see form at end of Handbook), and C) Arrange for the return of all schoolbooks, materials and outstanding fees. As part of this process, students are required to: A) Obtain final grades from Teachers; B) Obtain Personalized Learning Plan from Team Leader; and C) Obtain Portfolio from Curriculum Coordinator.

#### **Student Discipline Policy and Due Process**

Ledyard Charter School offers a personalized, individualized learning program for its students and, in return, it expects its students to comply with the highest standards of behavior academically as well as socially. It expects its students to be cooperative and attentive in the classroom and to socialize and work with peers with respect and friendship. The school, therefore, sets policies for conduct and discipline as the means to ensure both student safety and appropriate behavior.

## A. Policy Statement. (Policy Code: JICD)

This policy establishes the substantive parameters, procedures and due process that shall apply before a student may be subject to temporary (same day) removal from classrooms or activities, restriction from activities, detentions, suspensions and/or expulsion. Pursuant to Board Policy JIC, response to misconduct, including disciplinary measures and consequences should be designed to maximize student academic, emotional and social success, while at the same time

assuring safety of all students, staff and school visitors. Administration of any of the consequences described in this policy shall be consistent with the system of supports and graduated sanctions established pursuant to Policy JIC and the applicable Code of Conduct.

## B. Standards and Procedures Relative to Disciplinary Consequences.

1. "Removal from the classroom" means a student is sent to a designated area during the same school day. It is within the discretion of the person in charge of the classroom or activity to remove the student.

Students may be removed from the classroom at the classroom teacher's discretion if the student refuses to obey the teacher's directives, becomes disruptive, fails to abide by LCS rules, or the Code of Conduct, or otherwise impedes the educational purpose of the class. Before ordering the removal, the staff member ordering the removal shall warn the student of the infraction and allow the student to respond. Detentions are not appealable.

2. "Restriction from school activities" means a student will attend school, classes, but will not participate in other school extra-curricular activities, including such things as competitions, field trips, and performances. A student who has been restricted from school activities may participate in practices at the discretion of the person imposing the restriction.

Before ordering the restriction, the supervising employee (e.g., teacher, coach, director, etc.) ordering the restriction shall warn the student of the infraction and allow the student to respond. If the restriction is immediate and outside of school hours, provisions must be made to assure the student is not left unsupervised. The terms of the restriction shall be communicated to the Executive Director and the student's parent/guardian. Restrictions under this policy are not appealable.

3. "Detention" means the student's presence is required for disciplinary purposes before or after the hours when the student is assigned to be in class. Students may be assigned classroom detention at the classroom teacher's discretion, and building detention at the Executive Director's discretion, if the student refuses to obey the teacher/employee's directives, becomes disruptive, fails to abide by printed classroom, school or LCS rules, or the Code of Conduct, or otherwise impedes the educational purpose of the class. Before ordering the detention, the staff member ordering the detention shall warn the student of the infraction and allow the student to respond. Parents/guardians shall be notified at least 24 hours prior to a student serving detention.

Detentions before or after school shall not exceed one hour. The building Executive Director is authorized to establish, announce and post additional guidelines and rules regarding detention, supervision, building access, etc. The length and timing of the detention is within the discretion of the licensed employee disciplining the student or the Executive Director, pursuant to the posted rules of the school. Detentions are not appealable.

- 4. "Temporary Reassignment" or "in-school suspension" means the student will attend school but will be temporarily isolated from one or more classes while under supervision. A temporary reassignment should not exceed five consecutive school days. Parents/guardians shall be notified prior to the administration of a temporary reassignment. The Executive Director is authorized to issue reassignment, restrictions from activities, or place a student on probation for repeated failure to conform to the Code of Conduct, classroom rules, or for any conduct that causes material or substantial disruption to the school/class environment, interferes with the rights of others, presents a threat to the health and safety of students, employees, and visitors, is otherwise inappropriate, or is prohibited by law.
- 5. "Probation" means a student is given a conditional suspension of a penalty for a definite period of time in addition to being reprimanded. The conditional suspension will mean the student must meet the conditions and terms for the suspension of the penalty. Failure of the student to meet these conditions and terms will result in reinstatement of the

penalty. Notwithstanding the assignment of probation, no imposition of the suspended consequence may be administered unless and until all of the provisions of this policy applicable to the suspended consequence (i.e., long-term suspension, expulsion, etc.) are satisfied.

- 6. "Out-of-school suspension" means the temporary denial of a student's attendance at school for a specific period of time. It includes short-term and long-term out of school suspensions.
- **a. Short-term suspension.** A "short-term suspension" means an out-of-school suspension of ten (10) consecutive school days or less. RSA 193:13, I (a). The Executive Director or his/her written designee is authorized to suspend a student for ten (10) school days or less. A short-term suspension may be imposed only for:
  - i. Behavior that is detrimental to the health, safety, or welfare of pupils or school personnel (including, but not limited to, an act of theft, destruction or violence, as defined in RSA 193-D:1); or
  - ii. Repeated and willful disregard of the reasonable rules of the school that is not remediated through imposition of LCS's graduated sanctions described in JIC and the Code of Conduct.

Pursuant to RSA 193:13, XI(b) and Board policy JIC, a short-term suspension over 5 days must conform to the standards included in the Code of Conduct. Before any short-term suspension may be imposed, a student is entitled to the minimum due process (notice before meeting of the charge and explanation of evidence, notice of the possibility of suspension, opportunity for the student to respond, and a written decision explaining the disciplinary action taken). See New Hampshire Department of Education Rule Ed 317.04(f)(1). The student and at least one of the student's parents/guardians will receive a written statement explaining any disciplinary action taken against the student.

**b. Long-term suspension.** A "long-term suspension" is the extension or continuation of a short-term suspension for a period not to exceed an additional 10 days beyond the duration of the short-term suspension.

The Executive Director is authorized to continue the suspension and issue a long-term suspension of a student for a period in excess of ten (10) school days, provided only that if the Executive Director issued the original short-term suspension, then the Board may designate another person to continue the short-term suspension and issue the long-term suspension.

A long-term suspension may only be imposed for:

- i. an act that constitutes an act of theft, destruction or violence, as defined in RSA 193-D;
- ii. bullying pursuant to Board Policy JICK when the pupil has not responded to targeted interventions and poses an ongoing threat to the safety or welfare of another student; or
- iii. possession of a firearm, BB gun, or paintball gun.

Prior to a long-term suspension, the student will be afforded a hearing on the matter. The informal hearing need not rise to the level and protocol of a formal hearing, but the process must comply with the requirements of Ed 317.04 (f)(2), and (f)(3)(g), including, without limitation, the requirements for advance notice and a written decision.

A student who is subject to a long-term suspension is entitled to the following due process:

i. Upon recommendation of a long-term suspension and prior to any hearing, there shall be written communication to the student and at least one of the student's parents or guardians, delivered in person or by mail to the student's last known address, which states the charges and an explanation of the evidence against the student.

- ii. A hearing that meets the requirements of Ed 317.04(f)(3)(g).
  - a. The school officials shall present evidence in support of the charges and the student (or the student's parent/guardian) shall have an opportunity to present any defense or reply.
  - b. During the hearing, the student, parent/guardian shall have the right to examine any witnesses presented by school officials.
  - c. The hearing shall be either public or private and the choice shall be that of the student or the parent/guardian. Provided, nevertheless, that if the nature of the evidence will violate the privacy of other students or if the Executive Director or Board determines that substantial harm to the pupil could result from an ill-conceived decision to hold the hearing in public, then the Board reserves the right and obligation to insist upon a private hearing.
  - d. The student may, together with a parent/guardian, waive the right to a hearing and admit to the charges.
- iii. The student is entitled to a written decision which includes the legal and factual basis for the conclusion that the student should be suspended.
- iv. Appeal of long-term suspension. Any long-term suspension issued other than by the Board under this policy, is appealable to the Board, provided the Executive Director or School Board chair receives the appeal in writing within ten (10) days after the issuance of the Executive Director's [or other person designated under B.6.b, above] hearing and written decision required under N.H. Dept. of Education Rule Ed. 317.04 (f)(2)c, and sub-paragraph B.6.b, above. The Board shall hold a hearing on the appeal but will rely upon the record of the decision being appealed from.
- c. Any suspension in excess of ten (10) school days shall remain in effect while this appeal is pending unless the School Board stays the suspension while the appeal is pending. Any request to stay a long-term suspension should be included in the original appeal.
- **d. Educational Assignments.** As required by RSA 193:13, V, educational assignments shall be made available to students during both short and longterm suspensions.
- **e. Alternative Educational Services.** The school shall provide alternative educational services to a suspended pupil whenever the pupil is suspended in excess of 20 cumulative days within any school year. The alternative educational services shall be designed to enable the pupil to advance from grade to grade.
- **f. Re-entry Meetings and Intervention Plans.** Prior to returning to regular classes, a suspended student, and parent/guardian (when available) shall meet with the Executive Director or his/her designee to assist the student in smoothly returning to the school setting.

Any time a pupil is suspended more than 10 school days in any school year, upon the pupil's return to school LCS shall develop an intervention plan designed to proactively address the pupil's problematic behaviors by reviewing the problem behavior, re-teaching expectations, and identifying any necessary supports.

**g. Attendance Safe Harbor.** A student may not be penalized academically solely by virtue of missing class due to a suspension.

- 7. "Expulsion" means the complete denial of a pupil's attendance at school for any of the reasons listed in RSA 193:13, II and IV.
  - a. Grounds for Expulsion. An Expulsion may only be imposed for an act that poses an ongoing threat to the safety of students or school personnel AND that constitutes:
  - i. A repetition of an act that warranted long term suspension under section B.6.b, above;
  - ii. Any act of physical or sexual assault that would be a felony if committed by an adult;
  - iii. Any act of violence pursuant to RSA 651:5, XIII;
  - iv. Criminal threatening pursuant to RSA 631:4, II(a); or
  - v. For bringing or possessing a firearm as defined in Section 921 U.S.C. Title 18 within a safe school zone as prohibited under RSA 193-D:1, or under the Gun Free School Zones Act, unless such pupil has written authorization from the Executive Director.

Before expelling a pupil, the Board shall consider each of the following factors:

- (1) The pupil's age.
- (2) The pupil's disciplinary history.
- (3) Whether the pupil is a student with a disability.
- (4) The seriousness of the violation or behavior committed by the pupil.
- (5) Whether LCS has implemented positive behavioral interventions under paragraph V.
- (6) Whether a lesser intervention would properly address the violation or behavior committed by the pupil.

b. Due Process to Be Afforded Prior to Expulsion. Prior to any expulsion, LCS will ensure that the due process standards set forth in Ed 317.04(f)(3) through 317.04 (m) are followed.

During an expulsion, unless otherwise stipulated in writing, a student is not permitted to attend school classes or activities, school sponsored events, or occasion school property.

A student who is subject to expulsion is entitled to the following due process:

- i. Upon recommendation of an expulsion and prior to any hearing, there shall be a written notice to the student and at least one of the student's parents/guardians, delivered in person or by mail to the student's last known address, which states the date, time and place for a hearing before the School Board. The notice shall be delivered to the student and at least one of the student's parents/guardians at least five calendar days prior to the hearing.
- ii. The School Board shall conduct the hearing in accordance with New Hampshire Administrative Rule Ed 317.04(f)(3)(g).

- a. The school officials shall present evidence in support of the charges and the student (or the student's parent/guardian) shall have an opportunity to present any defense or reply.
- b. During the hearing, the student, or the parent/guardian shall have the right to examine any witnesses presented by school officials.
- c. The hearing shall be either public or private and the choice shall be that of the student or the parent/guardian. Provided, nevertheless, that if the nature of the evidence will violate the privacy of other students or if the Board determines that substantial harm to the pupil could result from an ill-conceived decision to hold the hearing in public, then the Board reserves the right and obligation to insist upon a private hearing.
- d. The student may, together with a parent/guardian, waive the right to a hearing and admit to the charges.
- iii. The School Board shall issue a written decision stating whether the student is expelled and, if so, the length of the expulsion. If the decision is to expel, the decision must include the legal and factual basis for the decision including the specific statutory reference prohibiting the act for which the student is expelled.
- iv. The expulsion shall run until the School Board reviews it and restores the student's permission to attend school. The written decision shall state any action that the student may take to be restored by the School Board. The decision shall also state that the student has the right to appeal the decision to the New Hampshire State Board of Education at any time while the expulsion remains in effect.

# C. Modification or Reinstatement After Suspension or Expulsion.

Expelled or suspended students may request a modification of, or reinstatement from, an expulsion or suspension as provided below. Except for students establishing residency from out-of-state, requests for modification or reinstatement from expulsion/suspension shall be submitted in writing to the Executive Director no later than August 15. The request should set forth the reasons for the request and include additional information to establish that it is in the best interest of the student and school community to reinstate the student. Such additional information may include such things as work history, letters of reference, medical information, etc. All

reinstatements shall include an Intervention Plan as described in paragraph B.6.f, above, including such conditions as the reinstating authority (Executive Director or Board) deem appropriate.

- 1. Modification by the Executive Director. Subject to all other applicable laws, regulations and Board policies, and section D, below (relating to firearms), the Executive Director is authorized to reinstate any student who has been suspended or expelled from a school at LCS, and or enroll a student suspended or expelled from another school or district, on a case-by-case basis.
- 2. Review and reinstatement by Board. A student may request the Board to review an expulsion decision prior to the start of each school year by filing a written request with the Executive Director detailing the basis of the request. The Board will determine whether and in what manner it will consider any such request after consultation with the Executive Director.

# D. Possession of a Firearm

Pursuant to RSA 193:13, IV, any student who brings or possesses a firearm (as defined in 18 U.S.C. 921) in a safe school zone, as defined in RSA 193-D:1 without written authorization from the Executive Director or designee shall be expelled from school by the Board for a period of not less than 12 months.

Pursuant to RSA 193:13, IV, a student who is expelled from school in another state under the provisions of the Gun Free School Zones Act of 1994 shall not be eligible to enroll in LCS during such expulsion. If the out of state expulsion is for an indefinite period of time, the student may petition the Board for enrollment.

As provided in RSA 193:13, VII, both of the above expulsions may be modified by the Executive Director upon review of the specific case in accordance with other applicable law. The expelled student must submit a written application to the Executive Director requesting modification of the expulsion, and the student will be required to submit sufficient evidence in the form of letters, work history, or other documents that it is in the school's best interest and the student's best interest to allow a modification.

Modification of Expulsion for Firearms. A student who has been expelled from LCS or any other public or private school for bringing or possessing a firearm in a safe school zone as prohibited under RSA 193-D1, or under the Gun Free Schools Act, may only be reinstated or enrolled if the

Executive Director first determines: possession of the firearm was inadvertent and unknowing; the firearm was for sporting purposes and the student did not intend to display the firearm to any other person while within the safe schools zone; the student is/was in the fifth or lower grade when the incident occurred; or the Executive Director determines that the firearm was not loaded; and that no ammunition was reasonably available; and that the pupil had no intention to display the firearm to other students.

Additionally, the School Board may enroll a student expelled from a school outside of New Hampshire for a violation of the Gun Free Schools Act upon the student establishing residency.

**E. Appeals to State Board of Education.** Any decision by the Board (i) to expel a student, (ii) not to reinstate a student upon request, or (iii) enroll a student from another state who had been expelled for a violation of the Gun Free Schools Act, may be appealed to the State Board of Education at any time that the expulsion remains in effect, subject to the rules of the State Board of Education.

**F. Sub-committee of Board.** For purposes of sections B.6 and B.7 of this policy, "Board" or "School Board" may either be a quorum of the full Board, or a subcommittee of the Board duly authorized by the School Board.

# G. Executive Director Designees.

Except where otherwise stated in this policy, the Executive Director may delegate any authority s/he has under this policy, and a principal may delegate any authority s/he has under this policy, to other appropriate personnel.

## H. Disciplinary Removal of Students with Disabilities.

If a student is disabled under the Individuals with Disabilities Act (IDEA), the New Hampshire RSA 186-C, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Americans with Disabilities Act, or any other law providing special rights to disabled students, those laws shall govern and shall supersede these local policies to the extent these local policies are inconsistent with those laws. Accordingly, any suspension or expulsion of a child with a disability as defined in Ed 1102.01(t) shall be in accordance with Ed 1124.01.

#### I. Notice and Dissemination.

This policy shall be made available to families, students and staff as provided in Board Policy JIC.

# J. Conflict in Law or State Regulation.

If any provision of this policy shall conflict with State or Federal law, or regulation of the New Hampshire Department of Education, then such law or regulation shall apply, and the remainder of the policy shall be read and interpreted to be consistent with the law or regulation. School administrators and families are strongly encouraged to review the links for pertinent statutes and laws as referenced in this policy.

# **Drug-Free Workplace and Drug-Free School**

Ledyard Charter School complies with the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 which states that federal grantees and contractors certify that they maintain a drug-free workplace. LCS policy is to immediately dismiss any employee who is found to possess, distribute, manufacture, or use a controlled substance in the workplace. LCS will also pass on information regarding the infraction to the local authorities.

(Reference is provided to the Board's Policy regarding Drug-Free Workplace and Drug-Free School ADB/GBEC.)

# Tobacco Product Ban Policy Code: ADB

State law prohibits the use of any tobacco product, E-cigarette, or liquid nicotine in any facility or upon any grounds maintained by the Ledyard Charter School. Students and minors are further prohibited from possessing such items in or upon any facility, school vehicle, or grounds owned or maintained by LCS.

#### A. Definitions.

"Tobacco product(s)" means any product containing tobacco including, but not limited to, cigarettes, smoking tobacco, cigars, chewing tobacco, snuff, pipe tobacco, smokeless tobacco, and smokeless cigarettes, as well as any other product or item included in RSA 126-K:2, XI.

"Device" means any product composed of a mouthpiece, a heating element, a battery, and electronic circuits designed or used to deliver any aerosolized or vaporized substance including, but not limited to, nicotine or cannabis. Device may include, but is not limited, hookah, e-cigarette, e-cigar, e-pipe, vape pen, e-hookah, as well as any other object or item defined in RSA 126-K:2, II-a.

"E-cigarette" means any electronic smoking device composed of a mouthpiece, a heating element, a battery, and electronic circuits that may or may not contain nicotine or e-liquid. This term shall include such devices whether they are manufactured as e-cigarettes, e-cigars, or e-pipes, or under any other product name as well as any other product or item included in RSA

126-K:2, II-b as the same may be amended or replaced from time-to-time.

"E-liquid" means any liquid, oil, or wax product containing, but not limited to, nicotine or cannabis intended for use in devices used for inhalation as well as any other substance included or defined in RSA 126-K:2, II-c.

"Liquid nicotine" means any liquid product composed either in whole or in part of pure nicotine and propylene glycol and manufactured for use with e-cigarettes, as well as any other product or item included in RSA 126-K:2, III-a.

"Facility" is any place which is used for the instruction of students enrolled in all grades maintained by the LCS. This definition shall include all administrative offices and areas within facilities supportive of instruction and subject to educational administration, including, but not limited to, lounge areas, passageways, rest rooms, laboratories, classrooms, study areas,

cafeterias, gymnasiums, maintenance rooms, and storage areas.

#### B. Students.

No student shall purchase, attempt to purchase, possess or use any tobacco product, device, E-cigarette, E-liquid, or liquid nicotine in any facility, in any school vehicle or anywhere on school grounds maintained by the LCS.

Enforcement of the prohibition against students shall initially rest with building principals, or their designees, who may also report any violation to law enforcement, for possible juvenile, criminal or other proceedings as provided under state law. Additional consequences may be administered pursuant to printed student conduct rules.

## C. Employees.

No employee shall use any tobacco product, device, E-cigarette, E-liquid, or liquid nicotine, in any facility, in any school vehicle or anywhere on school grounds maintained by LCS

Initial responsibility for enforcement of this prohibition shall rest with building principals, or their designees. Any employee(s) who violate(s) this policy is subject to disciplinary action which may include warning, suspension or dismissal. Violations may also be referred to appropriate law enforcement and/or other appropriate agencies for criminal or other proceedings as provided under state law.

## D. All other persons.

No visitor, contractor, vendor or other member of the public, shall use any tobacco product, device, E-cigarette, E-liquid, or liquid nicotine in any facility, in any school vehicle, or anywhere on school grounds maintained by LCS. The Executive Director or their designee(s), shall have the initial responsibility to enforce this section, by requesting that any person who is violating this policy to immediately cease the use of tobacco products, e-cigarette or liquid nicotine. After this request is made, if any person refuses to refrain from using such products in violation of this policy, the Executive Director or designee may call contact the appropriate law enforcement agency(ies) for possible criminal or other proceedings as provided under state law.

#### E. Implementation and Notice - Administrative Rules and Procedures.

The Executive Director shall establish administrative rules and procedures to implement this policy, including student violations and resulting disciplinary consequences should be developed in consultation with staff.

The Executive Director shall provide annual notice to employees, students and parents of the pertinent provisions of this policy (e.g., student or staff handbook) along with applicable administrative regulations and procedures, which may include prescribed consequences for

violations of this policy. Such notice should include information that violation of this Policy could lead to criminal or other such proceedings.

Signs shall be placed by LCS in all buildings, facilities and school vehicles stating that the use of tobacco products is prohibited.

The purpose of this administrative rule is to provide guidelines for the conduct of student questioning and searches by authorized school administrators. These are guidelines only and may be adjusted within reasonable and lawful limits on a case-by-case basis. School administrators have the discretion to request the assistance of law enforcement authorities as they deem necessary and in accordance with Board policy. Law enforcement authorities will not participate in searches except under exceptional circumstances.

Any item found during a search that is illegal, violates Board policies or school rules, or which in the reasonable judgment of school administrators represents a threat to the safety and welfare of the school population shall be seized. Illegal items shall be turned over to law enforcement authorities. Other items shall be stored in a secure location until a determination is made regarding appropriate disposition.

School administrators are required to document all searches and items seized or impounded. The Executive Director and the parents of students involved shall be provided with a copy of such reports.

# A. Questioning by School Administrators

- 1. School administrators are under no obligation to notify a student's parents/guardians prior to questioning a student regarding alleged violations of Board policies, school rules, and/or federal/state laws.
- School administrators shall inform the student of the reasons for the questioning and provide an
  opportunity for the student to respond to any allegations. School administrators shall make a reasonable
  effort to question the student in a location out of the sight and hearing of other students.
- 3. If a student fails to cooperate, lies, misleads, or threatens any person during questioning, he/she may be subject to additional disciplinary action.
- B. Searches of Students, Personal Property in Students' Immediate Possession
  - School administrators are authorized to search students and/or personal property in students' immediate
    possession, when, in their judgment, there are reasonable grounds to suspect that a student has violated
    or is violating Board policies, school rules, federal/state laws, or is interfering with the operations,
    discipline or general welfare of the school.
  - 2. All searches of students and/or their personal property shall be authorized and conducted by a school administrator in the presence of a witness, except where the circumstances render the presence of a witness impractical. A reasonable effort will be made to conduct searches out of the sight and hearing of other students.
  - 3. Searches should be reasonably related to the suspected violation and no more intrusive than necessary to discover the evidence for which the search was instigated. Searches may include pat downs and searches of the student's outer clothes (e.g., pockets, jacket, shoes, hat) and personal belongings (e.g., purse, backpack, gym bag, lunch bag). The student may be given the opportunity to open any closed items or items that are not easily accessible to visual search. If the student refuses, the administrator shall open and search the items. If the search produces a reasonable suspicion of the presence of evidence, a broader search may be justified. If a strip search appears to be necessary, law enforcement authorities shall be contacted.

- 4. Searches which disclose evidence that a student has violated Board policies or school rules will be addressed through school disciplinary procedures. Evidence of violation of federal/state laws may result in school disciplinary action and/or be forwarded to law enforcement authorities for possible investigation/prosecution.
- C. Searches of Lockers, Desks, and Other School Storage Facilities
- 1. School administrators shall consult with the Executive Director prior to conducting random searches. Students have no expectation of privacy in school storage facilities or for any items placed in such storage facilities. School administrators have the authority to inspect and search storage facilities and their contents on a random basis, with or without reasonable suspicion, and without notice or consent.
- 2. Searches of individual student lockers, desks, or other storage facilities and their contents based upon reasonable suspicion will be conducted in the presence of the student and a witness, if practical under the circumstances of the search. A reasonable effort will be made to conduct searches out of the sight and hearing of other students. The student may be given the opportunity to open any closed items or items that are not easily accessible to visual search. If the student refuses, the administrator shall open and search the items.
- 3. Any search which discloses evidence that a student has violated Board policies or school rules will be addressed through school disciplinary procedures. Evidence of violation of federal/state laws may result in school disciplinary action and/or be forwarded to law enforcement authorities for possible investigation/prosecution.

# Reporting Child Abuse or Neglect

Under New Hampshire law (RSA 169-C:29), every person who has "reason to suspect" that a child has been abused or neglected is required to report that suspicion to DCYF (Division of Children, Youth and Families of the New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services) or directly to the police. Under RSA 169-C:30, the initial report "shall be made immediately via telephone or otherwise."

The requirement to report is not dependent on whether there is proof of the abuse or neglect, nor is it dependent upon whether the information suggests the abuse or neglect is continuing or happened in the past. Any doubt regarding whether to report should be resolved in favor of reporting. Failure to report may be subject to criminal prosecution, while a report made in good faith is entitled to both civil and criminal immunity. Additionally, a "credential holder", as defined in New Hampshire Department of Education Rule 501.02(h), who fails to report suspected abuse or neglect risks having action taken by the New Hampshire Department of Education against his/her credential. See N.H. Code of Conduct for Educators, Ed. 510.05 (e).

## Pupil Safety & Violence Prevention Policy (Bullying)

# **Definitions (RSA 193-F:3)**

- 1. **Bullying.** Bullying is hereby defined as a single significant incident or a pattern of incidents involving a written, verbal, or electronic communication, or a physical act or gesture, or any combination thereof, directed at another pupil which:
  - i. Physically harms a pupil or damages the pupil's property;

Ledyard Charter School 2024-25 Student/Parent Handbook Page 25

- ii. Causes emotional distress to a pupil;
- iii. Interferes with a pupil's educational opportunities;
- iv. Creates a hostile educational environment; or
- v. Substantially disrupts the orderly operation of the school.

Bullying shall also include actions motivated by an imbalance of power based on a pupil's actual or perceived personal characteristics, behaviors, or beliefs, or motivated by the pupil's association with another person and based on the other person's characteristics, behaviors, or beliefs.

- 2. **Cyberbullying.** Cyberbullying is defined as any conduct defined as "bullying" in this policy that is undertaken through the use of electronic devices. For purposes of this policy, any references to the term bullying shall include cyberbullying.
- 3. **Electronic devices.** Electronic devices include, but are not limited to, telephones, cellular phones, computers, electronic mail, instant messaging, text messaging, social media, and websites.
- 4. **School property.** School property means all real property and all physical plant and equipment used for school purposes, including public or private school buses or vans.

Any reference in this policy to "parent" shall include parents or legal guardians.

# Statement Prohibiting Bullying or Cyberbullying of a Pupil (RSA 193-F:4, II(a))

The Board is committed to providing all pupils a safe and secure school environment. This policy is intended to comply with RSA 193-F. Conduct constituting bullying and/or cyberbullying will not be tolerated and is hereby prohibited.

Further, in accordance with RSA 193-F:4, the School reserves the right to address bullying and, if necessary, impose discipline for bullying that:

- 1. Occurs on, or is delivered to, school property or a school-sponsored activity or event on or off school property; or
- 2. Occurs off of school property or outside of a school-sponsored activity or event, if the conduct interferes with a pupil's educational opportunities or substantially disrupts the orderly operations of the school or school-sponsored activity or event.

The Executive Director is responsible for ensuring that this policy is implemented.

# Statement prohibiting retaliation or false accusations (RSA 193-F:4, II(b)) False Reporting

A student found to have wrongfully and intentionally accused another of bullying may face discipline or other consequences, ranging from positive behavioral interventions up to and including suspension or expulsion.

A school employee found to have wrongfully and intentionally accused a student of bullying shall face discipline or other consequences be determined in accordance with applicable law, School policies, and procedures.

## Reprisal or Retaliation

The School will discipline and take appropriate action against any student, teacher, administrator, volunteer, or other employee who retaliates against any person who makes a good faith report of alleged bullying or against any person who testifies, assists, or participates in a proceeding or hearing relating to such bullying.

1. The consequences and appropriate remedial action for a student, teacher, school administrator or school

volunteer who engages in reprisal or retaliation shall be determined by the Executive Director after consideration of the nature, severity and circumstances of the act, in accordance with law and Board policies.

- 2. Any student found to have engaged in reprisal or retaliation in violation of this policy shall be subject to measures up to, and including, suspension and expulsion.
- 3. Any teacher or school administrator found to have engaged in reprisal or retaliation in violation of this policy shall be subject to discipline up to, and including, termination of employment.
- 4. Any school volunteer found to have engaged in reprisal or retaliation in violation of this policy shall be subject to measures up to, and including, exclusion from school grounds.

# **Process To Protect Pupils From Retaliation**

If the alleged victim or any witness expresses to the Executive Director or other staff member that he/she believes he/she may be retaliated against, the Executive Director shall develop a process or plan to protect that student from possible retaliation.

Each process or plan may be developed on a case-by-case basis. Suggestions include, but are not limited to, re-arranging student class schedules to minimize their contact, stern warnings to alleged perpetrators, temporary removal of privileges, or other means necessary to protect against possible retaliation.

# Protection of all Pupils (RSA 193-F:4, II(c))

This policy shall apply to all pupils and school-aged persons on School grounds and participating in School functions, regardless of whether or not such pupil or school-aged person is a student within the School.

<u>Disciplinary Consequences For Violations of This Policy (RSA 193-F:4, II(d))</u> The School reserves the right to impose disciplinary measures against any student who commits an act of bullying, falsely accuses another student of bullying, or who retaliates against any student or witness who provides information about an act of bullying.

In addition to imposing discipline under such circumstances, the School Board encourages the administration and School staff to seek alternatives to traditional discipline, including but not limited to early intervention measures, alternative dispute resolution, conflict resolution and other similar measures.

## Distribution and Notice of This Policy (RSA 193-F:4, II(e))

## Staff and Volunteers

All staff will be provided with a copy of this policy annually. The Executive Director may determine the method of providing the policy (employee handbook, hard copy, etc.)

The Executive Director will ensure that all school employees and volunteers receive annual training on bullying and related School policies.

#### **Students**

All students will be provided with a copy of this policy annually. The Executive Director may determine the method of providing the policy (student handbook, mailing, hard copy, etc.)

Students will participate in an annual education program which sets out expectations for student behavior and emphasizes an understanding of harassment, intimidation, and bullying of students, the School's prohibition of such conduct and the reasons why the conduct is destructive, unacceptable, and will lead to discipline. Students shall also be informed of the consequences of bullying conduct toward their peers.

The Executive Director, in consultation with staff, may incorporate student anti-bullying training and education into the School's curriculum, but shall not be required to do so.

#### **Parents**

All parents will be provided with a copy of this policy annually. The Executive Director may determine the method of providing the policy (parent handbook, mailing, etc.). Parents will be informed of the program and the means for students to report bullying acts toward them or other students. They will also be told that to help prevent bullying at school they should encourage their children to:

- 1. Report bullying when it occurs;
- 2. Take advantage of opportunities to talk to their children about bullying;
- 3. Inform the school immediately if they think their child is being bullied or is bullying other students;
- 4. Cooperate fully with school personnel in identifying and resolving incidents.

# **Additional Notice and School Programs**

The Board may, from time to time, host or schedule public forums in which it will address the anti-bullying policy, discuss bullying in the schools, and consult with a variety of individuals including teachers, administrators, guidance counselors, and other interested persons.

# Procedure for Reporting Bullying (RSA 193-F:4, II(f))

At each school, the Executive Director shall be responsible for receiving complaints of alleged violations of this policy.

# **Student Reporting**

- 1. Any student who believes he or she has been the victim of bullying should report the alleged acts immediately to the Executive Director. If the student is more comfortable reporting the alleged act to a person other than the Executive Director, the student may tell any School employee or volunteer about the alleged bullying.
- 2. Any school employee or volunteers who witnesses, receives a report of, or has knowledge or belief that bullying may have occurred shall inform the Executive Director as soon as possible, but no later than the end of that school day.
- 3. The Executive Director may develop a system or method for receiving anonymous reports of bullying. Although students, parents, volunteers and visitors may report anonymously, formal disciplinary action may not be based solely on an anonymous report. Independent verification of the anonymous report shall be necessary in order for any disciplinary action to be applied.
- 4. The administration may develop student reporting forms to assist students and staff in filing such reports. An investigation shall still proceed even if a student is reluctant to fill out the designated form and chooses not to do so.
  - 5. Upon receipt of a report of bullying, the Executive Director shall commence an investigation consistent with the provisions of Section XI of this policy.

## Staff Reporting

- 1. An important duty of the staff is to report acts or behavior that they witness that appears to constitute bullying.
- 2. All school employees and volunteers shall encourage students to tell them about acts that may constitute

bullying. For young students, staff members may provide direct assistance to the student.

- 3. Any school employee or volunteers who witnesses, receives a report of, or has knowledge or belief that bullying may have occurred shall inform the Executive Director as soon as possible, but no later than the end of that school day.
- 4. Upon receipt of a report of bullying, the Executive Director shall commence an investigation consistent with the provisions of Section XI of this policy.

# Procedure for Internal Reporting Requirements (RSA 193-F:4, II(g))

In order to satisfy the reporting requirements of RSA 193-F:6, the Executive Director or designee shall be responsible for completing all New Hampshire Department of Education forms and reporting documents of substantiated incidents of bullying. Said forms shall be completed within 10 school days of any substantiated incident. Upon completion of such forms, the Executive Director or designee shall retain a copy for himself or herself and shall forward one copy to the Board Chair. The Board Chair shall maintain said forms in a safe and secure location.

# Notifying Parents of Alleged Bullying (RSA 193-F:4, II(h))

The Executive Director shall report to the parents of a student who has been reported as a victim of bullying and to the parents of a student who has been reported as a perpetrator of bullying within 48 hours of receiving the report. Such notification may be made by telephone, writing or personal conference. The date, time, method, and location (if applicable) of such notification and communication shall be noted in the report. All notifications shall be consistent with the student privacy rights under the applicable provisions of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (FERPA).

# Waiver of Notification Requirement (RSA 193-F:4, II(i))

The Board Chair may, within a 48 hour time period, grant the Executive Director a waiver from the requirement that the parents of the alleged victim and the alleged perpetrator be notified of the filing of a report. A waiver may only be granted if the Board Chair deems such a waiver to be in the best interest of the victim or perpetrator. Any waiver granted shall be in writing.

## Investigative Procedures (RSA 193-F:4, II(j))

- 1. Upon receipt of a report of bullying, the Executive Director shall, within 5 school days, initiate an investigation into the alleged act. If the Executive Director is directly and personally involved with a complaint or is closely related to a party to the complaint, then the Board Chair shall conduct the investigation.
- 2. The investigation may include documented interviews with the alleged victim, alleged perpetrator and any witnesses. All interviews shall be conducted privately, separately and shall be confidential. Each individual will be interviewed separately and at no time will the alleged victim and perpetrator be interviewed together during the investigation.
- 3. If the alleged bullying was in whole or in part cyberbullying, the Executive Director may ask students and/or parents to provide the School with printed copies of e-mails, text messages, website pages, or other similar electronic communications.
- 4. A maximum of 10 school days shall be the limit for the initial filing of incidents and completion of the investigative procedural steps.
- 5. Factors the Executive Director or other investigator may consider during the course of the investigation, including but not limited to:
  - Description of incident, including the nature of the behavior;

- How often the conduct occurred;
- Whether there were past incidents or past continuing patterns of behavior;
- The characteristics of parties involved, (name, grade, age, etc.);
- The identity and number of individuals who participated in bullying behavior; Where the alleged incident(s) occurred;
- Whether the conduct adversely affected the student's education or educational environment; Whether the alleged victim felt or perceived an imbalance or power as a result of the reported incident; and
- The date, time and method in which parents or legal guardians of all parties involved were contacted.
- 6. The Executive Director shall complete the investigation within 10 school days of receiving the initial report. If the Executive Director needs more than 10 school days to complete the investigation, the Board Chair may grant an extension of up to 7 school days. In the event such extension is granted, the Executive Director shall notify in writing all parties involved of the granting of the extension.
- 7. Whether a particular action or incident constitutes a violation of this policy shall require a determination based on all facts and surrounding circumstances and shall include recommended remedial steps necessary to stop the bullying and a written final report to the Principal.
- 8. Students who are found to have violated this policy may face discipline in accordance with other applicable Board policies, up to and including suspension. Students facing discipline will be afforded all due process required by law.
- 9. Consistent with applicable law, the School will not require or request that a student disclose or provide to the School the student's username, password or other authenticating information to a student's personal social media account. However, the School may request a student or a student's parent/guardian that the student voluntarily share printed copies of specific information from a student's personal social media account if such information is relevant to an ongoing School investigation.

# Response to Remediate Substantiated Instances of Bullying (RSA 193-F:4, II(k))

Consequences and appropriate remedial actions for a student or staff member who commits one or more acts of bullying or retaliation may range from positive behavioral interventions up to and including suspension or expulsion of students and dismissal from employment for staff members.

Consequences for a student who commits an act of bullying or retaliation shall be varied and graded according to the nature of the behavior, the developmental age of the student, and the student's history of problem behaviors and performance. Remedial measures shall be designed to correct the problem behavior, prevent another occurrence of the problem, protect and provide support for the victim, and take corrective action for documented systematic problems related to bullying.

Examples of consequences may include, but are not limited to:

- Admonishment
- Temporary removal from classroom
- Deprivation of privileges
- Classroom or administrative detention
- Referral to disciplinarian
- In-school suspension
- Out-of-school suspension
- Expulsion

Examples of remedial measures may include, but are not limited to:

• Restitution

- Mediation
- Peer support group
- Corrective instruction or other relevant learning experience
- Behavior assessment
- Student counseling
- Parent conferences

In support of this policy, the Board promotes preventative educational measures to create greater awareness of aggressive behavior, including bullying. The Board encourages the Executive Director to work collaboratively with all staff members to develop responses other than traditional discipline as a way to remediate substantiated instances of bullying.

# Reporting of Substantiated Incidents to the Board Chair (RSA 193-F:4, II(I)

The Executive Director shall forward all substantiated reports of bullying to the Board Chair upon completion of the Executive Director's investigation.

# Communication with Parents Upon Completion of Investigation (RSA 193-F:4, II(m)

- 1. Within two school days of completing an investigation, the Executive Director will notify the students involved in person of his/her findings and the result of the investigation.
- 2. The Executive Director will notify via telephone the parents of the alleged victim and alleged perpetrator of the results of the investigation. The Executive Director will also send a letter to the parents within 24 hours again notifying them of the results of the investigation.
- 3. If the parents request, the Executive Director shall schedule a meeting with them to further explain his/her findings and reasons for his/her actions.
- 4. In accordance with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act and other law concerning student privacy, the School will not disclose educational records of students including the discipline and remedial action assigned to those students and the parents of other students involved in a bullying incident.

#### **Appeals**

A parent or guardian who is aggrieved by the investigative determination letter of the Executive Director or his/her designee may appeal the determination to the School Board Chair for review.

It is in the best interests of students, families and the School that these matters be promptly resolved. Therefore, any such appeal to the School Board shall be made within ten (10) calendar days of the parent/guardian's receipt of the investigative determination letter of the Executive Director or his/her designee. The appeal to the School Board shall be in writing, addressed to the School Board Chair in care of the Executive Director, shall state the reason(s) why the appealing party is aggrieved, and the nature of the relief they seek.

An aggrieved parent/guardian has the right to appeal the final decision of the local School Board to the State Board of Education within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the written decision of the local School Board in accordance with RSA 541-A and State of New Hampshire Department of Education Regulations set forth in ED 200. The State Board of Education may waive the thirty-day requirement for good cause shown, including, but not limited to, illness, accident, or death of a family member.

The Executive Director is responsible for ensuring that this policy is implemented.

# Use of Video or Audio Recordings in Student Discipline Matters

The School reserves the right to use audio and/or video recording devices on School property to ensure the health, safety and welfare of all staff, students and visitors.

In the event an audio or video recording is used as part of a student discipline proceeding, such video may become part of a student's education record.

The Board Chair is authorized to contact the School's attorney for a full legal opinion relative in the event of such an occurrence.

# **Student Hazing Policy Code: JICFA**

New Hampshire law defines student hazing as "any act directed toward a student, or any coercion or intimidation of a student to act or to participate in or submit to any act, when: (1) Such act is likely or would be perceived by a reasonable person as likely to cause physical or psychological injury to any person; and (2) Such act is a condition of initiation into, admission into, continued membership in or association with any organization." For the purposes of this policy, the term "organization" includes any association, society, athletic group, club, service group, or other similar group whose members are or include students, operating at or in conjunction with the Ledyard Charter School.

The Ledyard Charter School prohibits student hazing in connection with any school-sponsored or sanctioned program, activity, or organization, as well as formation of or membership in any secret organization in any way related to such programs and activities.

It is the policy of the Board that injurious hazing activities of any type, either on or off school property, by any student, school employee, group or organization are inconsistent with the educational process and shall be prohibited at all times.

No administrator, staff member, or other employee of the district shall encourage, permit, condone, or tolerate hazing activities. No student, including leaders of student organizations, shall plan, encourage, or engage in hazing activities. Students and employees who participate in or have knowledge of any hazing activities are required to make a report to the Executive Director.

Persons not associated with the district who fail to abide by this policy may be subject to ejection from school property and/or other measures as may be available under the law.

Administrators, school employees, and students who fail to abide by this policy may be subject to disciplinary action. For students, this may include suspension, expulsion or other appropriate measures. For employees, this may mean disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. In the case of an organization affiliated with the school which authorizes hazing, penalties may include rescission of permission for that organization to operate on school property or to receive any other benefit of affiliation with the school.

These penalties shall be in addition to any civil or criminal penalties to which the violator or organization may be subject. All hazing incidents which come to the attention of the school shall be reported to the appropriate law enforcement authorities.

The Executive Director is responsible for administering this policy and may delegate specific responsibilities as he/she deems appropriate. This policy shall be included in all school handbooks, on the district website, or otherwise distributed to all school employees and students.

# Section V - Planning a Course of Study

Upon entrance to LCS, studies will prepare a Personalized Learning Plan (PLP). The PLP will reflect the student's interests, needs, aptitudes and career goals. The general course objectives should be consistent with the school's content standards and state guidelines. Levels of student achievement will differ due to the individualized nature of the learning process and the student's own capabilities.

# Acceptance of External Credits

Ledyard Charter School Charter Schools accepts transfer credit only from approved public and private schools and state-approved home school programs. LCS will review the school's program, their course content and instruction.

# **Standardized Testing**

Ledyard Charter School must administer any state mandated tests as applicable AND have parents agree to have their child participate with state mandated testing. LCS will administer the state mandated tests (SATs and SAS assessments) for the purpose of demonstrating programmatic success as well as individual assessment. Scores will be included in the student's file or portfolio and will be utilized by the teacher when consulting with families about educational plans and curriculum selection. State mandated testing will occur in the fall and spring and will be administered by LCS teachers and staff. Thus, testing will occur with familiar faces and in smaller test settings.

# Minimum Requirements for Graduation & Diploma

New Hampshire State Required Subjects and Credits for High School Graduation

Required Subjects	Credit(s)	
Arts education	½ credit	
Information and communications technologies	½ credit, or demonstrate proficiency	
English Language Arts	4 credits	
Mathematics	4 credits, including Algebra credit that can be earned through a sequential, integrated or applied program	
Physical sciences	1 credit	
Biological sciences	1 credit	
Science	1 credit (a third science credit which can be an embedded science credit)	
US and NH history	1 credit	
US and NH government/civics	½ credit	
Economics, including personal finance	½ credit	
World history, global studies, or geography	½ credit	

Health education	½ credit
Physical education	1 credit
Open electives	6 credits
Totals	22 credits

#### **Concurrent Enrollment**

College preparatory courses (or others) not offered by the charter school can be taken at a local community college for high school credit. These courses may include foreign language, visual or performing arts, and laboratory science. Depending on the college, students may have to complete a "Concurrent Enrollment Form," which can be obtained at the community college, before registering for these classes. Please contact the college of choice to determine their policy for concurrent enrollment and credits earned.

### **College Admission Information**

Students desiring information regarding college admission requirements should contact their Student Advisor. Current information is also available on the Internet at the following sites:

- For all New Hampshire colleges including community colleges, state colleges, University of New Hampshire, and independent universities, information may be found at <a href="http://www.nh.gov/residents/education.html">http://www.nh.gov/residents/education.html</a>
- For information regarding the New Hampshire State University system, their website is located at <a href="http://www.usnh.edu/">http://www.usnh.edu/</a>

## **Certified Coordinators**

The Executive Director of Ledyard Charter School serves as the 504 Coordinator, English Language Learners (ELL) Coordinator, Suicide Prevention Coordinator, and Homeless Coordinator and will ensure that students with specific needs related to these categories are provided with the services and resources necessary to support their specific educational, developmental and/or social needs. The Curriculum Coordinator of Ledyard Charter School serves as Title IX Coordinator. The Title IX Coordinator ensures compliance with all Federal and State requirements regarding discrimination, harassment, and Title IX sexual harassment. The Title IX Coordinator also handles and reports and complaints regarding discrimination, harassment, and Title IX sexual harassment.

#### **Students with Disabilities**

A student identified as an individual with disabilities pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act or Section 504 of the Federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973 will receive all special education services through the LEA (Local Education Agency), otherwise known as the District of Residence. All services will be coordinated through the charter school, and LCS will hold regular meetings with the LEA, IEP Team and/or Case Manager as defined by the individual case.

**Nondiscrimination** / **Equal Opportunity Policy & Procedural Safeguards** Ledyard Charter School does not discriminate on the basis of sex or other protected categories in its education programs and activities, as required by federal and state laws/regulations.

Discrimination against and harassment of students because of age, sex, race, gender identity, sexual orientation, race, color, marital status, familial status, physical or mental disability, religion, genetic information or national origin are prohibited.

The Curriculum Coordinator serves as the Title IX Coordinator. The Title IX Coordinator has implemented a continuing program designed to prevent, assess the presence of, intervene in, and respond to incidents of discrimination against all applicants, employees, students, and other individuals having access rights to school premises and activities. The Title IX Coordinator is responsible for ensuring compliance with all federal and state requirements relating to nondiscrimination.

In addition, all staff, students, parents, and other interested persons are directed to the New Hampshire Department of Education Procedural Safeguards Handbook.

(Reference is provided to the Board's Policies on Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunities, AC, and the Procedural Safeguards, ACE, both found on the School's website.)

#### Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students

Harassment of students because of age, sex, race, gender identity, sexual orientation, race, color, marital status, familial status, physical or mental disability, religion, economic status or national origin is prohibited. Such conduct is a violation of Board policy and may constitute illegal discrimination under state and federal laws.

School employees, fellow students, volunteers, visitors to the school, and other persons with whom students may interact in order to pursue or engage in education programs and activities, are required to refrain from such conduct.

Ledyard Charter School 2023-24 Student/Parent Handbook Page 36 Harassment and sexual harassment of students by school employees is considered grounds for disciplinary action, up to and including discharge. Harassment and sexual harassment of students by other students is considered grounds for disciplinary action, up to and including expulsion. The Executive Director will determine appropriate sanctions for harassment of students by persons other than school employees and students.

#### I. Harassment

Harassment includes, but is not limited to, verbal abuse and other offensive conduct based on age, sex, race, gender identity, sexual orientation, color, marital status, familial status, veteran status, physical or mental disability, religion, economic status or national origin, citizenship, as well as other classifications protected by applicable Federal and State laws. Harassment that rises to the level of physical assault, battery and/or abuse and bullying behavior are also addressed in Board Policy JICK – Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention - Bullying.

#### II. Sexual Harassment

Sexual harassment is addressed under federal and state laws/regulations. The scope and definitions of sexual harassment under these laws differ, as described below:

#### A. Title IX Sexual Harassment

Under the federal Title IX regulations, sexual harassment includes the following conduct on the basis of sex which takes place within the context of the School's education programs and activities: i. "Quid Pro Quo" sexual harassment by a school employee: conditioning a school aid, benefit or service (such as a better grade or college recommendation) on an individual's participation in unwelcome sexual conduct;

- ii. "Hostile environment" sexual harassment: unwelcome conduct based on sex that a reasonable person would determine is so severe, pervasive and objectively offensive that it effectively denies an individual's equal access to the School's education programs and activities; or
- iii. Sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence and stalking as these terms are defined in federal laws.

#### B. Other Forms of Sexual Harassment

Some forms of sexual harassment may not meet the definition under Title IX (see paragraph A above) but is still prohibited under New Hampshire law.

Other forms of sexual harassment include but are not limited to unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors or pressure to engage in sexual activity, physical contact of a sexual nature, gestures, comments, or other physical, written, graphic, electronic, or verbal conduct that is gender-based in the following situations:

- i. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of a student's educational benefits;
- ii. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by a student is used as the basis for decisions on educational benefits; or
- iii. Such conduct has the purpose and effect of substantially interfering with a student's academic performance or creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive environment.

#### III. Reports and Complaints of Harassment or Sexual Harassment

All school employees are required to report possible incidents of harassment or sexual harassment involving students to the Title IX Coordinator. Failure to report such incidents may result in disciplinary action.

Students, parents/legal guardians, and other individuals are strongly encouraged to report possible incidents of

harassment or sexual harassment involving students to the Title IX Coordinator. The Title IX Coordinator is also available to answer questions and provide assistance to any individual who is unsure whether harassment or sexual harassment has occurred.

All reports and complaints of harassment or sexual harassment against students shall be addressed through the Complaint Procedure outlined below in this Handbook. (Reference is also provided to Student Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures, JBAA-R.)

# Student Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures

Ledyard Charter School has adopted these student procedures in order to provide prompt and equitable resolution of reports and complaints of unlawful discrimination and harassment of students, including sexual harassment, as described in policies AC – Nondiscrimination/Equal Opportunity and JBAA – Harassment and Sexual Harassment of Students.

Complaints alleging harassment or discrimination against employees or third parties based on a protected status should be addressed through the Board's Employee Discrimination/Harassment and Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures (GBAA-R).

Any individual who is unsure about whether unlawful discrimination or harassment has occurred and/or or which complaint procedure applies is encouraged to contact the Curriculum Coordinator/Title IX Coordinator.

Wendy Kozak, Executive Director Curriculum Coordinator & Title IX Coordinator LCS, 39 Hanover Street, P.O. Box 327, Lebanon, NH 03766
(603)727-4772
wkozak,lcs@gmail.com

# Section 1. Definitions

For purposes of these complaint procedures, the following definitions will be used. The Title IX Coordinator shall assess all reports and complaints to ensure that they are addressed under the appropriate policy and complaint procedure.

#### A. Discrimination/Harassment Complaint Procedure Definitions

- 1. "Discrimination or harassment": Discrimination or harassment on the basis of an individual's membership in a protected category, which, for students, includes age, sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, race, creed, color, ancestry or national origin, marital status, familial status, physical or mental disability, religion or economic status are prohibited.
- 2. "Discrimination": Treating individuals differently or interfering with or preventing them from enjoying the advantages or privileges afforded to others because of their membership in a protected category.
- 3. "Harassment": Oral, written, graphic, electronic or physical conduct relating to an individual's actual or perceived membership in a protected category that is sufficiently severe, pervasive or persistent so as to interfere with or limit that individual's ability to participate in the School District's programs or activities by creating a hostile, intimidating or offensive environment.
- 4. Other forms of "sexual harassment": this means unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal, non-verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature in the following situations:

- a. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of a student's educational benefits;
- b. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by a student is used as the basis for decisions on educational benefits; or
- c. Such conduct has the purpose and effect of substantially interfering with a student's academic performance or creates an intimidating, hostile or offensive environment.
- 5. "Sexual orientation": Under New Hampshire law, this means "having or being perceived as having an orientation for heterosexuality, bisexuality, or homosexuality."
- 6. "Gender identity": Under New Hampshire law, this means "a person's gender-related identity, appearance, or behavior, whether or not that gender-related identity, appearance, or behavior is different from that traditionally associated with the person's physiology or assigned sex at birth."
  - 7. "Complaint" is defined as an allegation that a student has been discriminated against or harassed on the basis of race, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, religion, ancestry, national origin or disability (and not otherwise addressed in the Title IX regulations and Section 3 of JBAA-R).
  - 8. Complaints of bullying not involving the protected categories or definitions described above may be addressed under Board Policy JICK Pupil Safety and Violence Prevention.

# B. Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedure Definitions

- 1. "Sexual Harassment": Under the federal Title IX regulations, sexual harassmentincludes the following conduct on the basis of sex which takes place within the context of the School's education programs and activities:
  - a. "Quid pro quo" sexual harassment by a school employee: Conditioning a school aid, benefit or service (such as a better grade or a college recommendation) on an individual's participation in unwelcome sexual conduct;
  - b. "Hostile environment" sexual harassment: Unwelcome conduct based on sex that a reasonable person would determine is so severe, pervasive *and* objectively offensive that it effectively denies an individual's equal access to the School's education programs and activities; or
  - c. Sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence and stalking as these terms are defined in federal laws.
- 2. "Report": Under the Title IX regulations, any individual may make a report of sexual harassment involving a student, whether the individual is the alleged victim or not. School employees are required to report possible incidents of sexual harassment involving a student. A report must be made to the Title IX Coordinator. A report triggers certain actions by the Title IX Coordinator for the alleged victim of sexual harassment, but an investigation is not conducted unless a "Formal Complaint" (as defined below) is filed.
- 3. "Formal Complaint": Under the Title IX regulations, the alleged victim of sexual harassment can file a written complaint that triggers the complaint procedure in Section 3 of JBAA-R. Only a student and/or their parent/legal guardian (and in certain circumstances, the Title IX Coordinator) may file a formal complaint.
- 4. "Student": For the purposes of this procedure, a student an individual who is enrolled or participating in the School's education programs and activities or is attempting to enroll or participate.

# Section 2. Unlawful Discrimination/Harassment Complaint Procedure

This procedure should be used for any complaint of unlawful harassment or discrimination complaint based on a protected category which does <u>not</u> involve Title IX sexual harassment.

# A. How to Make A Complaint

- 1. School employees are required to promptly make a report to the Title IX Coordinator if they have reason to believe that a student has been discriminated against or harassed.
- 2. Students (and others) who believe that they, or another student has been harassed or discriminated against should report their concern promptly to the Title IX Coordinator.
- 3. The individual making the report must provide basic information in writing concerning the allegation of harassment or discrimination (i.e., date, time,location, individual(s) who alleged engaged in harassment or discrimination, description of allegation) to the Title IX Coordinator. Any complaint about the Title IX Coordinator should be submitted to the Chair of the Board, who should consult with legal counsel concerning the handling and investigation of the complaint.
- 4. If an individual is unsure as to whether unlawful discrimination or harassment has occurred, or who need assistance in preparing a written complaint, they are encouraged to discuss the matter with the Title IX Coordinator.
- 5. Individuals will not be retaliated against for reporting suspected discrimination or harassment, or for participating in an investigation. Retaliation is illegal under federal and state nondiscrimination laws, and any retaliation will result in disciplinary action, up to and including discharge for employees, and expulsion for students.
- 6. Individuals are encouraged to utilize the School's complaint procedure. However, individuals are hereby notified that they also have the right to report incidents of discrimination or harassment to the New Hampshire Commission for Human Rights, 2 Industrial Park Drive, Concord, NH 03301, and/or to the federal Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Department of Education, 5 Post Office Square, 8<sup>th</sup> Floor, Boston, MA 02109-3921 (telephone: 617-289-0111).

#### B. Complaint Handling and Investigation

- 1. The Title IX Coordinator will promptly inform the Board Chair and the person who is the subject of the complaint (respondent) that a complaint has been received.
- 2. The Title IX Coordinator may pursue an informal resolution of the complaint with the agreement of the parties involved. Any party to the complaint may decide to end the informal resolution process and pursue the formal process at any point. Any informal resolution is subject to the approval of the parties and the Board Chair, who shall consider whether the resolution is in the best interest of the School and the parties in light of the

particular circumstances and applicable policies and laws.

3. The Title IX Coordinator may implement supportive measures to a student to reduce the risk of further discrimination or harassment to a student while an investigation is pending. Examples of supportive measures include, but are not limited to, ordering no contact between the individuals' involved or

changing classes.

- 4. The complaint will be investigated by a trained internal or external individual designated by the Title IX Coordinator. Any complaint about an employee who holds a supervisory position shall be investigated by a person who is not subject to that supervisor's authority. Any complaint about the Title IX Coordinator should be submitted to the Chair of the Board, who should consult with legal counsel concerning the handling and investigation of the complaint.
- 5. The investigator shall consult with the Title IX Coordinator as agreed during the investigation process.
- 6. The respondent will be provided with an opportunity to be heard as part of the investigation. The complainant shall not be required to attend meetings with the respondent but may choose to do so as part of an informal resolution process.
- 7. The complainant and the respondent may suggest witnesses to be interviewed and/or submit materials they believe are relevant to the complaint.
- 8. If the complaint is against an employee of the School, any rights conferred under an applicable collective bargaining agreement shall be applied.
- 9. Privacy rights of all parties to the complaint shall be maintained in accordance with applicable state and federal laws.
- 10. The investigation shall be completed within 40 business days of receiving the complaint, if practicable. Reasonable extensions of time for good reason shall be allowed.
- 11. The investigator shall provide a written report and findings to the Title IX Coordinator and School Board Chair.

# C. Findings and Subsequent Actions

- 1. The Title IX Coordinator shall consult with the School Board Chair concerning the investigation and findings.
- 2. If there is a finding that discrimination or harassment occurred, the Title IX Coordinator, in consultation with the School Board Chair shall:
  - i. Determine what remedial action, if any, is required to end the discrimination or harassment, remedy its effect and prevent recurrence; and
  - ii. Determine what disciplinary action should be taken against the individual(s) who engaged in discrimination or harassment, if any.
- 3. Inform the complainant and the respondent in writing of the results of the investigation and its resolution (in accordance with applicable state and federal privacy laws).

# D. Appeals

1. After the conclusion of the investigation, the complainant or respondent may seek an appeal of the findings solely on the basis of either: (a) prejudicial procedural error or (b) the discovery of

previously unavailable relevant evidence that could significantly impact the outcome.

- 2. Appeals must be submitted in writing to the Vice Chair of the School Board of Trustees within five business days after receiving notice of the resolution.
- 3. Upon receipt of a valid appeal, the Board Vice Chair shall provide notice to the other party, along with an opportunity to provide a written statement within five business days.
- 4. The Board Vice Chair shall review the available documentation and may conduct further investigation if deemed appropriate.
- 5. The Board Vice Chair's decision on the appeal shall be provided to the parties within 10 business days, if practicable. The Board Vice Chair's decision shall be final.

#### E. Records

The Title IX Coordinator shall keep a written record of the complaint process. **Section 3. Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedure** This section should be used for complaints of as defined in Section 1.B.1.

# A. How to Make A Report

- 1. School employees who have reason to believe that a student has been subjected to sexual harassment is required to promptly make a report to the Title IX Coordinator.
- 2. Students, parents/legal guardians or other individuals who believe a student has been sexually harassed are encouraged to make a report to the Title IX Coordinator. Any report about the Title IX Coordinator should be submitted to the Chair of the Board, who should consult with legal counsel concerning the handling and investigation of the complaint.
- **3.** If the individual making the report is the alleged victim, or if the alleged victim is identified by the individual making the report, the Title IX Coordinator, or Board Chair if applicable, will meet with the alleged victim to discuss supportive measures that may be appropriate in the particular circumstances and explain the process for filing a formal complaint.
  - a. Supportive measures are individualized measures designed to ensure the student can continue to access educational programs and activities (such as requiring no contact between individuals or changing classes).
  - b. Supportive measures may be continued even if the alleged victim chooses not to file a formal complaint, if appropriate under the particular circumstances.
- **4.** The School cannot provide an informal resolution process for resolving a report unless a formal complaint is filed.
- 5. Individuals will not be retaliated against for reporting sexual harassment, or for participating in an investigation. Retaliation is illegal under federal and state nondiscrimination laws, and any retaliation will result in disciplinary actions, up to and including discharge for employees, or expulsion for students.

- 6. Any student (or their parent/legal guardian) who believes they have been the victim of sexual harassment is encouraged to utilize the School's complaint procedure. However, students (and their parents/legal guardians) are hereby notified that they also have the right to report sexual harassment to the New Hampshire Commission for Human Rights, 2 Industrial Park Drive, Concord, NH 03301 and/or to the federal Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Department of Education, 5 Post Office Square, 8<sup>th</sup> Floor, Boston, MA 02109-3921 (telephone: 617-289-0111).
- 7. The Board Chair shall be informed of all reports and formal complaints of sexual harassment.

#### B. How to Make A Formal Complaint

1. An alleged student victim and/or their parent/legal guardian may file a formal written complaint requesting investigation of alleged Title IX sexual harassment. Thewritten complaint must include basic information concerning the allegation of sexual harassment (i.e., date, time, location, individual(s) who allegedly engaged in sexual harassment, description of allegation, etc.) and be delivered to the Title IX Coordinator.

Students who need assistance in preparing a formal written complaint are encouraged to consult with the Title IX Coordinator.

Any complaint about the Title IX Coordinator should be submitted to the Chair of the Board, who should consult with legal counsel concerning the handling and investigation of the complaint.

- 2. In certain circumstances, the Title IX Coordinator, or Board Chair, if applicable, may file a formal complaint even when the alleged victim chooses not to. Examples include if the respondent (person alleged to have engaged in sexual harassment) has been found responsible for previous sexual harassment or there is a safety threat within the School. In such cases, the alleged victim is not a party to the case, but will receive notices as required by the Title IX regulations at specific points in the complaint process.
- **3.** In accordance with the Title IX regulations, the Title IX Coordinator, or Board Chair, if applicable, <u>must</u> dismiss a formal complaint if: a) the conduct alleged in the formal complaint does not constitute sexual harassment under the Title IX regulations and this policy; or b) if the conduct alleged did not occur within the scope of the School's education programs and activities, or c) did not occur in the United States.
- **4.** In accordance with the Title IX regulations, the Title IX Coordinator, or Board Chair, if applicable, may dismiss a formal complaint if: a) a complainant withdraws the formal complaint, or withdraws particular allegations within the complaint; b) the respondent is no longer employed by or enrolled in the School; or c) there are specific circumstances that prevent the School from gathering evidence sufficient to reach a determination regarding the formal complaint.
- **5.** If a formal complaint is dismissed under this procedure, the Title IX Coordinator, or Board Chair, if applicable, will promptly and simultaneously send written notices to the parties explaining the reasons. Parties have the opportunity to appeal dismissals in accordance with subsection I below.
- 6. If the conduct alleged in a formal complaint potentially violates other laws, Board policies and/or

professional expectations, the School may address the conduct under the applicable policy/procedure.

#### C. Emergency Removal or Administrative Leave

The Executive Director, with agreement of the Board Chair, may remove a student from education programs and activities on an emergency basis, or place an employee on administrative leave during the complaint procedure:

- 1. If there is a determination (following an individualized safety and risk analysis) that there is an immediate threat to the physical health or safety of an individual arising from the allegations of sexual harassment. Examples of such circumstances might include, but are not limited to, a continued threat of violence against a complainant by a respondent, or a respondent's threat of self-harm due to the allegations.
- 2. The respondent (and in the case of a student, their parent/legal guardian) will be provided notice of the emergency removal or administrative leave, and will be provided an opportunity to challenge the decision following the removal (this is an opportunity to be heard, not a hearing). The respondent has the burden to demonstrate why the emergency removal or administrative leave was unreasonable.
- 3. Any such decision shall be made in compliance with any applicable disability laws, including the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act.

# D. Notice to Parties of Formal Complaint

- 1. The Title IX Coordinator, or Board Chair, if applicable, will provide to the parties written notice of the formal complaint and allegations of sexual harassment potentially constituting prohibited conduct under the Title IX regulations and this procedure. The notice shall include:
  - Notice regarding the complaint procedure and the availability of an informal resolution process;
  - Sufficient details known at the time (including identities of parties, if known; the conduct alleged; and the date and location of the alleged incident, if known), with sufficient time to prepare before any initial interview (not less than five business days).
  - As required by the Title IX regulations, a statement that the respondent is presumed not
    responsible for the alleged conduct and that a determination of responsibility will be
    made at the conclusion of the complaint); and that the parties may inspect and review
    evidence;
  - Notice that the parties may each have an advisor of their choice (who may be an attorney), and that the parties may inspect and review evidence;
  - Notice that knowingly making false statements or submitting false information during the complaint process is prohibited and may result in disciplinary action; Notice of the name of the investigator, with sufficient time (no less than three business days) to raise concerns of conflict of interest or bias.
- **2.** If additional allegations become known at a later time, notice of the additional allegations will be provided to the parties.
  - **3.** The Title IX Coordinator, or Board Chair, if applicable, will discuss supportive measures with each party and implement such measures as appropriate.

#### E. Informal Resolution Process

After a formal complaint has been filed, and if the Title IX Coordinator, or Board Chair, if applicable, believes the circumstances are appropriate, the Title IX Coordinator, or Board Chair, if applicable, may offer the parties the opportunity to participate in an informal resolution process to resolve the complaint without completing the investigation and determination process. Informal resolutions cannot be used to resolve a formal complaint where a student is the complainant and the respondent is an employee.

Informal resolutions can take many forms, depending on the particular case. Examples include, but are not limited to, facilitated discussions between the parties; restorative justice; acknowledgment of responsibility by a respondent; apologies; disciplinary actions against a respondent or a requirement to engage in specific services; or supportive measures. Both parties must voluntarily agree in writing to participate in an informal resolution process, and either party can withdraw from the process at any time. The Board Chair must agree to the terms of any informal resolution reached between the parties. If an informal resolution agreement is reached, it must be signed by both parties and the School. Any such signed agreement is final and binding according to itsterms.

If an informal resolution process does not resolve the formal complaint, nothing from the informal resolution process may be considered as evidence in the subsequent investigation or determination.

#### F. Investigation

- 1. The complaint will be investigated by a trained internal or external individual designated by the Title IX Coordinator, or Board Chair, if applicable. Any complaint about an employee who holds a supervisory position shall be investigated by a person who is not subject to that supervisor's authority. Any complaint about the Executive Director should be submitted to the Board Chair, who should consult with legal counsel concerning the handling and investigation of the complaint.
- **2.** The investigator shall consult with the Title IX Coordinator, or Board Chair, if applicable, as agreed during the investigation process.
- **3.** If the complaint is against an employee of the School, rights conferred under an applicable collective bargaining agreement shall be applied, to the extent they do not conflict with the Title IX regulatory requirements.
- **4.** Privacy rights of all parties to the complaint shall be maintained in accordancewith applicable state and federal laws.
- **5.** The investigator will:
  - a. Meet with each party after they have received appropriate notice of any meeting and its purpose, with sufficient time to prepare.
  - b. Allow parties to have their advisor at all meetings related to the complaint, although advisors may not speak on behalf of a party or interfere with the process.
  - c. Allow parties a reasonable opportunity to identify witnesses and submit favorable and unfavorable evidence.

- d. Interview witnesses and conduct such other activities that will assist in ascertaining facts (site visits, review of documents, etc.).
- e. Consider evidence that is relevant and directly related to the allegations in the formal complaint.
- f. During the course of the investigation, provide both parties with an equal opportunity to inspect and review any evidence that is obtained in the investigation that is directly related to the allegations in the formal complaint (including evidence which the School does not intend to rely upon in reaching a determination of responsibility), and favorable and unfavorable evidence.
- g. Prior to completion of the investigation report, provide each party and advisor (if any) the evidence subject to inspection and review, and provide the parties with ten business days to submit a written response.
- h. Consider the parties' written responses to the evidence prior to completing the investigation report.
- i. Create an investigative report that fairly summarizes relevant evidence and send the report to the parties and advisors (if any), for their review. The Parties may submit written responses to the report within ten calendar business days of receipt.
- j. After receipt of the parties' written responses (if any), forward the investigation report and party responses to the assigned decision maker.
- **6.** The investigation shall be concluded within 40 business days if practicable. Reasonable extension of time for good reason shall be allowed.

# G. Determination of Responsibility

- 1. The decision maker shall provide the parties with the opportunity to submit written, relevant questions that the party wants asked of another party or witness within five business days of when the decision maker received the investigation report and party responses.
  - a. The decision maker shall explain to a party proposing questions if the decision maker excludes a question as not relevant.
- **2.** Each party shall be provided the opportunity to review the responses of another party and/or witness, and to ask limited written follow-up questions within five business days of receiving the answers.
- **3.** Each party will receive a copy of the responses to any follow-up questions.
- **4.** The decision maker shall review the investigation report, the parties' responses and other relevant materials, applying the preponderance of the evidence standard ("more likely than not").
- 5. The decision maker shall issue a written determination, which shall include the following:
  - a. Identification of all the allegations potentially constituting sexual harassment as defined in the

Title IX regulations and this policy;

- A description of the procedural steps taken from receipt of the formal complaint through the determination, including notifications to the parties, interviews with parties and witnesses, site visits, methods used to gather other evidence, and meetings held;
- c. A determination regarding responsibility as to each allegation and findings of fact supporting the determinations;
- d. A statement of, and rationale for, the result as to each allegation, including a determination regarding responsibility, any disciplinary sanctions the School District imposes on the respondent, and whether remedies designed to restore or preserve equal access to the School's programs and activities will be provided to the complainant;
- e. The School's appeal procedure and permissible bases for the parties to appeal the determination.
- **6.** The written determination shall be provided to the parties simultaneously. The determination concerning responsibility becomes final either on the date that the School provides the parties with the written determination of the results of the appeal, if an appeal is filed, or if an appeal is not filed, the date on which the appeal would no longer be considered timely.

#### H. Remedies, Discipline and Other Actions

#### 1. Remedies

Remedies are measures used to ensure that the complainant has equal access to the School's education programs and activities following the decision maker's determination. Such remedies may include supportive measures, and may include other appropriate measures, depending upon the determination and the needs of the complainant. The Title IX Coordinator is responsible for implementing remedies and providing any needed assistance to the Complainant.

# 2. Discipline and Other Actions - Students

The following are of the types of discipline and other actions that may be imposed on a student when there is a determination that they are responsible for one or more violations involving sexual harassment:

- In or out of school suspension.
- Expulsion.
- Restorative justice.
- Requirement to engage in education or counseling program.

### 3. Discipline and Other Actions – Employees

The following are examples of the types of disciplinary actions that may be imposed on an employee when there is a determination that they are responsible for one or more violations involving sexual harassment:

- Written warning.
- Probation.
- Demotion.

- Suspension without pay.
- Discharge.

The following are examples of other types of actions that may be imposed on an employee when there is a determination of responsibility:

- Performance improvement plan.
- Counseling.
- Training.
- Loss of leadership/stipend position.

# I. Appeals

The parties have the opportunity to appeal a determination regarding responsibility, and from dismissals of formal complaints. Under the Title IX regulations, appeals are allowed on the following grounds:

- 1. A procedural irregularity that affected the outcome of the matter;
- 2. New evidence that was not reasonably available at the time the determination regarding responsibility or dismissal of the formal complaint was made, that could affect the outcome of the matter; or
- 3. The Title IX Coordinator, investigator, or decision maker had a conflict of interest or bias for or against complainants or respondents generally, or the individual complainant or respondent that affected the outcome of the matter.

An appeal must be filed in writing within five business days of receiving the determination, stating the grounds for the appeal and including any relevant documentation in support of the appeal. Appeals submitted after this deadline are not timely and shall not be considered.

- 1. Appeals must be filed with the Board Vice Chair, who will consider the appeal.
- 2. The Board Vice Chair shall notify the other party in writing of the appeal and will allow both parties to submit a written statement in support of, or challenging, the determination of the decision maker.
- 3. The Board Vice Chair shall conduct an impartial review of the appeal, including consideration of the written record of the matter, and may consult with legal counsel or other School officials in making their decision.
- 4. The Board Vice Chair shall issue a written decision describing the result of the appeal and rationale for the result, and provide the written decision simultaneously to the parties. The decision will either deny the appeal; grant the appeal and remand to the decision maker for further consideration; or grant the appeal by revising the disciplinary or other action(s).

#### J. Records

Records in connection with sexual harassment reports and the complaint process shall be maintained for a minimum of seven years.

# Complaint Procedures for Incidents Other than Bullying, Discrimination, Harassment or Sexual Harassment

Ledyard Charter School is dedicated to providing excellent educational services and maintaining a healthy relationship with our students and their families, at all levels from the Executive Director down. We have a Complaint Policy to ensure all complaints are handled as efficiently and effectively as possible. Ledyard Charter encourages all students and families to use the complaint procedure without fear of prejudice or retaliation within the limits of the preview process and with the assurance that everyone's confidences will be respected.

It is the policy of the school to provide an effective and timely method for students and families to bring forth classroom/school issues and concerns. These issues and concerns may include policies, procedures, communication, or problems with teachers, staff, or administrators.

Complaints about Bullying, Discrimination, Harassment and Sexual Harassment as defined by the school's policies on will be investigated and resolved according to those policies not this one.

The following outlines our policy and procedures for the handling of verbal and written complaints.

# I. Informal Complaint Procedure

- A. Students and families that have school/educational concerns are encouraged to discuss them with the teacher or administrator as soon as possible after the concerning event.
- B. The teacher or administrator will have three (3) working days to address the issue/concern. C. If the concern is not resolved with the teacher or administrator in a timely manner, the parent or student may bring the issue to the Executive Director.
- D. The Executive Director will mediate and facilitate a solution satisfactory to all involved parties. E. If the parties cannot reach a satisfactory resolution, the parent or student may choose to file a formal complaint with the Ledyard Charter School Executive Board of Trustees.

# II. Formal Complaint Procedure

- A. Student or family will be required to submit a formal, written complaint based on no resolution from the Informal Complaint process.
- B. The document should describe the incident or complaint and the evidence upon which it is based. The document should describe the issue with specific facts, including personnel involved, events, dates and other information relating to the complaint.
- C. The complaint should be marked "personal and confidential" and addressed to the Board Chair of the Ledyard Charter School Executive Board of Trustees. This should be sent to the Board Chair, care of the Ledyard Charter School, 39 Hanover Street, Lebanon, NH 03766.
- D. The document should be sent as soon as possible and within twenty (20) days of when notification of a satisfactory resolution was unlikely.

#### III. Appeal of Decision

- A. All parties have the right to appeal the Complaint Resolution. Either party may file a written appeal to the Vice Chair of the Executive Board of Trustees within ten (10) days of the Formal Decision.
- B. If no appeal is filed during this time, the terms of the Decision will be recorded and signed by all parties

# Transgender and Gender Nonconforming Policy Code: JBAB

### I. Purpose

The Ledyard Charter School District (District) is committed to providing a safe and supportive learning environment for all students that is free from discrimination, harassment, bullying and intimidation, as well as to assist in the educational and social integration of transgender and gender nonconforming students in our schools. The District is further committed to ensuring that every student shall have equal access to the District's educational programs and activities. Additionally, District policy requires that all schools and all personnel promote acceptance and respect among students and staff.

This policy is intended to be interpreted in light of applicable federal and state laws and regulations, as well as Board policies, procedures and school rules. This policy is not intended to anticipate every possible situation that may occur, since the needs of particular students and families differ depending on the student's age and other factors. In addition, the programs, facilities and resources of each school differ. Administrators and school staff are expected to consider the needs of students on a case-by-case basis, and to utilize this policy and other available resources as appropriate.

The term "transgender" is an umbrella term for an individual whose gender identity or expression is different from that traditionally associated with their assigned sex at birth. A student will be considered transgender if, at school, they consistently assert a gender identity or expression different from that traditionally associated with assigned sex at birth. This includes students who identify as transgender, or who are gender nonconforming. This involves more than a casual declaration of gender identity or expression, but it does not necessarily require a medical diagnosis.

#### II. Discrimination/Harassment

It is the responsibility of each school and the District to ensure that transgender and gender nonconforming students have a safe school environment. This includes ensuring that any incident of discrimination, harassment, or violence is given immediate attention, including investigating the incident, taking appropriate corrective action, and providing students and staff with appropriate resources. Complaints alleging discrimination or harassment based on a person's actual or perceived transgender status or gender nonconformity are to be handled in the same manner as other discrimination or harassment complaints.

#### Acceptance of Handbook and Agreement to Comply with Policies

We have received and reviewed the Ledyard Charter School Student/Parent Handbook and agree to respect and comply with the policies in place.

Parent/Guardian Name	Parent/Guardian Signature	 Date		
Program Commitment				
I				
Student Signature				